

Memo

October 23, 2013

- TO: Adult Immunizations Advisory Group
- RE: Web Meeting on Wednesday, October 30, 2013 (12:30-2pm ET)

LOG-IN INSTRUCTIONS

TEST YOUR COMPUTER IN ADVANCE! To do so, direct your web browser

to: nqf.commpartners.com and click on the "support" button in the upper left corner. Then click on "run test." You should see a message indicating whether you are ready to participate in the web meeting. Click to continue the test to ensure your computer speakers are ready.

ON THE DAY OF THE EVENT:

Follow the instructions below 15 minutes prior to the scheduled start time.

- 1. Direct your web browser to the following URL: <u>nqf.commpartners.com</u> .
- 2. Under "Enter a meeting," type in the meeting number **221545** and click on "Enter."
- 3. In the "Display Name" field, type in your first and last name and click on "Enter Meeting."
- 4. Dial **1-866-599-6630** and use confirmation code **88262670.** Remember to turn off your computer speakers during the presentation

WEB MEETING AGENDA

The web meeting is intended to inform the Advisory Group of the project goals, objectives, deliverables and timeline. The advisory group will be asked to provide:

- Guidance on important measurement considerations for the selection/modification of a conceptual framework; and
- Early input on the environmental scan, resources to explore, and additional considerations for achieving the project objectives.

PROJECT GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The Affordable Care Act (ACA) requires a consensus-based entity (NQF) to "synthesize evidence and convene key stakeholders to make recommendations...on... priorities for health care performance measurement in all applicable settings." Under contract with the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), NQF will provide multi-stakeholder guidance on priorities for performance measurement

to address the triple aim of the <u>National Quality Strategy</u> (NQS), focusing on five specific areas requested by HHS, including Adult Immunization. Specifically, this Adult Immunization sub-task will identify critical areas for performance measurement to optimize vaccination rates and outcomes across adult populations.

The primary goal of the project is to provide HHS with recommendations on where to prioritize their performance measurement development and endorsement efforts related to adult immunization. This project will identify gaps and provide recommendations related to measures for specific adult vaccines for which there are no NQF-endorsed measures (e.g., zoster, HPV, Td/Tdap, etc.); summary or composite measures of adult immunization; and outcome measures (e.g., hospitalizations, deaths, post-discharge readmission) for vaccine-preventable diseases.

DRAFT CONEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

NQF staff has drafted a framework built upon concepts identified by the Quality and Performance Measures Workgroup (WG) of the HHS Interagency Adult Immunization Task Force that include structure-process-outcome and the two critical purposes of federal measures: 1) quality improvement/provider accountability, and 2) population health and planning. HHS specifically requested the framework accommodate age appropriate vaccinations (consistent with the adult immunization schedule issued by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (APIC) and CDC), vaccines for age groups including young adults, maternity, adults and the elderly, or other categorizations identified by the environmental scan and the multi-stakeholder group, along with summary or composite measures.

Measure harmonization, measurement of disparities, data sources and suitability for EHR measurement as well as other important characteristics identified by the environmental scan and the multistakeholder group will be considered in further developing the conceptual framework.

DRAFT ADULT IMMUNIZATION CONCEPTUAL MODEL

		PROVIDER (denominator – patients cared for by provider		POPULATION HEALTH (denominator – city, state, national, etc)			
AGE GROUP		OUP	VACCINE	PROCESS	OUTCOME	PROCESS	OUTCOME
Young Adult		ilt	HPV				
	Adult		MMR				
		Elderly	Influenza	7 NQF measures			
			TD/Tdap				
			Varicella				
			Zoster				
			Pneumococcal	4 NQF measures			
			Composite				

		PROVIDER (denominator – patients cared for by provider		POPULATION HEALTH (denominator – city, state, national, etc)	
SPECIAL POPUALTION	VACCINE	PROCESS	OUTCOME	PROCESS	OUTCOME
	Influenza				
Maternity	Tdap				
	Composite				
	Hepatitis A	1 NQF measure			
Chronic Liver	Hepatitis B				
Disease	Age-related vaccines				
	Composite				

To demonstrate how the framework can be operationalized for gaps analysis, the NQF-endorsed measures are indicated.

QUESTIONS FOR THE ADVISORY GROUP:

- Does the Advisory Group have any recommendations for revising, improving, or replacing the framework?
- Will this framework enable further gap analysis?
- Is the framework consistent and acceptable for both private and federal systems?

PROJECT DELIVERABLE: ENVIRONMENTAL SCAN

The project specifies an environmental scan to identify measures or measure concepts that could be further developed into performance measures. NQF staff is approaching the environmental scan for measures and measures concepts through two distinct avenues. To identify existing performance measures or indicators, staff has searched the following sources:

- NQF's portfolio of endorsed measures;
- Federal list of measures
- AHRQ's National Quality Measures Clearinghouse and National Guidelines Clearinghouse;
- The Health Indicators Warehouse;
- Measures under consideration for federal programs in 2013; and
- Previously conducted environmental scans by NQF, including but not limited to a scan done as part of NQF's 2010 and 2011 HHS-funded efforts to prioritize the Medicare high-impact conditions and child health conditions, which yielded over 1,800 measure entries.

FINDINGS TO DATE

The vast majority of measures from these sources are process measures, primarily for influenza and pneumococcal disease. Very few measures for other conditions and one composite measure for adult immunizations have been identified. A few population-level outcome measures have been identified.

To identify measure concepts, staff is conducting a review of the peer reviewed and gray literature starting with the APIC review of the evidence for each adult vaccine to identify potential outcome measure concepts. Additional searches of "immunization + quality", immunization + quality measure" are underway.

QUESTIONS FOR ADVISORY GROUP:

- What additional sources of potential measures or indicators should be included in the environmental scan?
- What additional approaches should be used to identify measure concepts?

APPENDIX A: Multiple Chronic Conditions (MCC) Framework

The <u>NQF's Multiple Chronic Conditions (MCC) Framework</u>,^[1] can also be considered in thinking through a conceptual framework for Adult Immunization measure development to ensure a patient-centered approach that considers measurement needs across different types, sites, and providers of care.

This model is designed to illustrate the complexity of providing care for an individual with MCCs by showing the various ways that conditions, patient and family preferences, sites and providers of care, and types of care interact (see Figure below). Also represented in the model are the social and environmental context in which the individual lives and receives care and the public and private health policy priorities that guide the delivery of care

Within the center ring of the model is an individual with multiple different conditions that may have a greater or lesser effect on that individual. Also included in the inner ring are the family and friends who care for the individual, along with the individual's goals and preferences for care.

Depending on their conditions and preferences, individuals can receive care in various sites from various providers. Examples of sites most relevant for individuals with MCCs included in the second ring of the model are: primary care, specialty care, hospital/post-acute, nursing home, community (including school and workplace), home (including both formal and informal care), and pharmacy. The types of providers offering care to the individual (e.g., internists, hospitalists, nurse practitioners, social workers) also shift depending on the needs of the individual.

The types of care individuals receive, included in the third ring of the model (i.e., screening, primary and secondary prevention, diagnosis, treatment and management, community services, management of an acute exacerbation, rehabilitation, palliation, and end-of-life care), are not necessarily linear or mutually exclusive. For example, an individual with congestive heart failure may be seen in the hospital for an acute exacerbation but also may need continuing treatment and management of diabetes and lung cancer at the same time. Additionally, palliative care can occur at many points during the course of a disease or condition and is not exclusive to end-of-life care. End-of-life care can include hospice care, which can occur at multiple sites of care. These real-life examples reinforce the need for a flexible model that can capture the complexity of often-changing healthcare needs over time.

The outer ring of the model highlights the priority domains of measurement appropriate for use with individuals with MCCs. The domains intentionally align with the NQS to promote harmonization across public and private sector programs supporting this population. These domains support the key measure concepts for individuals with MCCs identified by the Steering Committee. Each priority domain of measurement may be addressed using several types of measures, including structure, process, outcome, efficiency, cost/resource use, and composite measures. The use of outcomes measures, when available, and process measures that are most closely linked to outcomes are preferable.

^[1]Report from the National Quality Forum: Multiple Chronic Conditions Measurement Framework. May 2012.



*Each priority domain of measurement may be addressed using several types of measures, including ethoritors, process and The user of autoinmes measures, when executely, end process measures that are most storely initial to outcomes a preferable. w, efficiency, contremuner and, and composite measures

Measure #	Measure Title	Measure Description
0039	Flu Shots for Adults Ages 50 and Over	This measure represents the percentage of adults aged 50 and over who received an influenza vaccine within the measurement period within the respective age-stratified CAHPS surveys. This measure is only reported by age group stratification. The terms FSA and FSO, defined below, will be used to identify any differences between the two age stratifications.
		FSA - A rolling average represents the percentage of members 50–64 years of age who received an influenza vaccination between September 1 of the measurement year and the date on which the CAHPS 4.0H adult survey was completed.
		FSO - The percentage of Medicare members 65 years of age and older who received an influenza vaccination between September 1 of the measurement year and the date on which the Medicare CAHPS survey was completed.
0041	Influenza Immunization	Percentage of patients aged 6 months and older seen for a visit between October 1 and March 31 who received an influenza immunization OR who reported previous receipt of an influenza immunization
0226	Influenza Immunization in the ESRD Population (Facility Level)	Percentage of end stage renal disease (ESRD) patients aged 6 months and older receiving hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis during the time from October 1 (or when the influenza vaccine became available) to March 31 who either received, were offered and declined, or were determined to have a medical contraindication to the influenza vaccine.
0227	Influenza Immunization	Percentage of patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of ESRD and receiving dialysis who received the influenza immunization during the flu season (September through February)
0431	INFLUENZA VACCINATION COVERAGE AMONG HEALTHCARE PERSONNEL	Percentage of healthcare personnel (HCP) who receive the influenza vaccination.
0522	Influenza Immunization Received for Current Flu Season (Home Health)	Percentage of home health episodes of care during which patients received influenza immunization for the current flu season.

0680	Percent of Residents or Patients Who	The measure reports the percentage of residents or patients who are assessed and appropriately given the influenza vaccine.
	Were Assessed and Appropriately Given the Seasonal Influenza Vaccine (Short- Stay)	This measure will include only residents or patients 6 months of age or older in the denominator. The measure is based on data from the Minimum Data Set (MDS) 3.0 assessments of nursing home residents, Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility Patient Assessment Instrument (IRF-PAI) assessments for Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility (IRF) patients, and the Long-Term Care Hospital (LTCH) Continuity Assessment Record & Evaluation (CARE) Data Set assessments of LTCH patients.
		Data are collected in each of these three settings using items that have been harmonized across the three assessment instruments. For the nursing home residents, the measure is limited to short-stay residents, defined as residents who are discharged within the first 100 days of their stay. For the IRFs and LTCHs, the measure will include all patients, irrespective of patient's length of stay.
		In 2008, the NQF steering committee met to identify voluntary consensus measures for influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations that were harmonized across healthcare settings. The steering committee recognized that "in the interest of standardization and minimizing burden for those implementing and using measures, measure harmonization is an important consideration in evaluating and recommending measures for endorsement." The committee supported the use of measure IM-016-07 which [at the time of the meeting] reported the percent of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents given the influenza vaccination during the flu season, stratified by short- and long-stay patients using MDS 2.0 items as the basis for a harmonized influenza vaccination measure settings (National Quality Forum, 2008a).
		The specifications of the proposed measure mirror those of the harmonized measure endorsed by the National Quality Forum (NQF) under measure number 0432 Influenza Vaccination of Nursing Home/Skilled Nursing Facility Residents (National Quality Forum, 2008b), with the addition of two additional patient care facilities IRFs and LTCHs. The NQF standard specifications were developed to achieve a uniform approach to measurement across patient care settings and populations by addressing who is included in and excluded from the target denominator population, who is included in and excluded from the numerator population, time window for measurement and time window for vaccinations.
		National Quality Forum (2008a, June). Revised voting draft for national voluntary consensus standards for influenza and pneumococcal immunizations. Received from Health Services Advisory Group on August 19, 2011. National Quality Forum. (2008b, December). National voluntary consensus standards for influenza and pneumococcal immunizations. Available from http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2008/12/National_Voluntary_Consensus_Standards_for_Influenza_and_Pneumococcal_Immunizations.aspx
0681	Percent of Residents Assessed and Appropriately Given the Seasonal Influenza Vaccine (Long-Stay)	This measure is based on data from the MDS 3.0 assessment of long-stay nursing facility residents and reports the percentage of all long-stay residents who were assessed and appropriately given the seasonal influenza vaccine during the most recent influenza season. The measure reports on the percentage of residents who were assessed and appropriately given the seasonal influenza vaccine (MDS items 00250A and 0250C) on the target MDS assessment (which may be an admission, annual, quarterly, significant change or correction assessment). Long-stay residents are those residents who have been in the nursing facility over 100 days. The measure is restricted to the population with long-term care needs and does not include the short-stay population who are discharged within 100 days of admission. This specification of the proposed measure mirrors the harmonized measure endorsed by the National Quality Forum (Measure number 0432: Influenza Vaccination of Nursing Home/Skilled Nursing Facility Residents.) The NQF standard specifications were developed to provide a uniform approach to measurement across settings and populations. Toward this end, the measure harmonizes those included in the target denominator population, those excluded, those included in the numerator population, and the time windows for measurement and vaccinations.
1659	Influenza Immunization	Inpatients age 6 months and older discharged during October, November, December, January, February or March who are screened for influenza vaccine status and vaccinated prior to discharge if indicated.
0043	Pneumonia vaccination status for older adults	Percentage of patients 65 years of age and older who ever received a pneumococcal vaccination

0525	Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine	Percentage of home health episodes of care during which patients were determined to have ever received Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine
	(PPV) Ever Received (Home Health)	(PPV).
0617	High Risk for Pneumococcal Disease - Pneumococcal Vaccination Percent of Residents or Patients Assessed and Appropriately Given the Pneumococcal Vaccine (Short-Stay)	The percentage of patients aged 5 through 64 with a high risk condition, or aged 65 years and older who either received a pneumococcal vaccine (reported separately) or had a contraindication to pneumococcal vaccine (reported separately). The measure reports the percentage of short stay nursing home residents or IRF or LTCH patients who were assessed and appropriately given the pneumococcal vaccine during the 12-month reporting period. This measure is based on data from Minimum Data Set (MDS) 3.0 assessments of nursing home residents, the Inpatient Rehabilitation Facilities Patient Assessment Instrument (IRF-PAI) for IRF patients, and the Long Term Care Hospital (LTCH) Continuity Assessment Record and Evaluation (CARE) Data Set for long-term care hospital patients, using items that have been harmonized across the three assessment instruments. Short-stay nursing home residents are those residents who are discharged within the first 100 days of their nursing home stay.
		The NQF standard specifications were harmonized to achieve a uniform approach to measurement across settings and populations, addressing who is included in or excluded from the target denominator population, who is included in the numerator population, and the time windows. In 2008, the NQF steering committee met to identify voluntary consensus measures for influenza and pneumococcal vaccination that were harmonized across healthcare settings. The steering committee recognized that "in the interest of standardization and minimizing burden for those implementing and using measures, measure harmonization is an important consideration in evaluating and recommending measures for endorsement." The committee supported the use of measure IM-017-which reports the percent of nursing home/Skilled Nursing Facility residents whose pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV) status is up to date during the 12-month reporting period - as the basis for a harmonized measure across settings (National Quality Forum, 2008b). The NQF standardized specifications differ from the currently reported measure in several ways. Note that for some residents or patients, a single vaccination during their lifetime is sufficient and the vaccination would be considered up to date; for others (those who are immunocompromised or older than age 65, but the first vaccine was administered more than 5 years before when the resident was younger than 65), a second dose would be needed to qualify as vaccination up to date. Although the guidelines recommend a second dose in these circumstances, the NQF Committee believed that adding that requirement would make measurement too complex for the amount of benefit gained. Also, given the importance of revaccination is supported by the NQF steering committee in their discussion of the national voluntary consensus standards for this measure (National Quality Forum, 2008a).
		This measure will include only residents or patients aged 5 years and older in the denominator. In their 2008 review of voluntary consensus standards for influenza and pneumococcal vaccination the NQF steering committee recommended limiting the use of measure IM -017 which reports the percent of nursing home/Skilled Nursing Facility residents whose PPV status is up to date, to residents age 5 and older. They state in their recommendation, "the specifications for high-risk groups begin at age 5, because the schedule for children ages 2-5 is different and complicated." (National Quality Forum. 2008b) The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) provides age specific guidelines for pneumococcal immunization for both children and adults These guidelines vary based on age and risk level and should be followed accordingly. Up–to-date vaccination status is defined as a resident or patient who has been vaccinated in accordance with the current CDC vaccination guidelines for pneumococcal disease for his/her age and health status. The current CDC vaccination guidelines for adults are available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mr5934a3.htm. The current CDC vaccination guidelines for infants and children are available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5911a1.htm?s_cid=rr5911a1_e.

0683		This measure is based on data from MDS 3.0 assessments of long-stay nursing facility residents. The measure reports the percentage of all long-stay residents who were assessed and appropriately given the Pneumococcal Vaccination (PPV) as reported on the target MDS assessment (OBRA, PPS or discharge) during the 12-month reporting period. This proposed measure is harmonized with NQF's quality measure on Pneumococcal Immunizations.(1) The MDS 3.0 definitions have been changed to conform to the NQF standard. The NQF used current guidelines from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and others to guide decisions on all parameters for the harmonized measures.(2-10) The recently updated ACIP guidelines remain unchanged relative to their recommendations for pneumonia vaccinations.(12) The NQF standard specifications were harmonized to achieve a uniform approach to measurement across settings and populations, addressing who is included or excluded in the numerator population, and time windows for measurement and vaccinations. Long-stay residents are those residents who have been in the nursing home facility for over 100 days. The measure is restricted to the population with long-term care needs and does not include the short-stay population who are discharged within 100 days of admission. 1. National Quality Forum. National voluntary consensus standards for influenza and pneumococcal immunizations. December 2008. Available from http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2008/12/National_Voluntary_Consensus_Standards_for_Influenza_and_Pneumocccal_Immunizations.aspx 2. ACIP. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR. Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-8):1-24.
1653	Pneumococcal Immunization	Inpatients age 65 years and older and 5-64 years of age who have a high risk condition who are screened for Pneumococcal Vaccine status and vaccinated prior to discharge if indicated.
0399	Paired Measure: Hepatitis C: Hepatitis A Vaccination (paired with 0400)	Percentage of patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of hepatitis C who have received at least one injection of hepatitis A vaccine, or who have documented immunity to hepatitis A
0038	Childhood Immunization Status	Percentage of children 2 years of age who had four diphtheria, tetanus and acellular pertussis (DtaP); three polio (IPV); one measles, mumps and rubella (MMR); three H influenza type B(HiB); three hepatitis B (HepB); one chicken pox (VZV); four pneumococcal conjugate (PCV); two hepatitis A (HepA); two or three rotavirus (RV); and two influenza (flu) vaccines by their second birthday. The measure calculates a rate for each vaccine and nine separate combination rates.
1407	Immunizations for Adolescents	The percentage of adolescents 13 years of age who had recommended immunizations by their 13th birthday
1959	Human Papillomavirus Vaccine for Female Adolescents	Percentage of female adolescents 13 years of age who had three doses of the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine by their 13th birthday
0475		Percent of live newborn infants that receive hepatitis B vaccination before discharge at each single hospital/birthing facility during given time period (one year).



NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

> A CONSENSUS REPORT

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Foreword

The millions of physicians, nurses, technologists, and other professionals who come into daily contact with patients together comprise the backbone of the nation's healthcare system. The health of these workers is constantly at risk because these workers, by the nature of their jobs, face unyielding exposure to communicable disease. Unfortunately, the healthcare system fails to ensure a uniformly safe work environment by taking appropriate steps to immunize every single healthcare worker.

The National Quality Forum (NQF) has long recognized the importance of immunizations for healthcare workers, calling for the vaccination of workers against influenza for their own protection as well as that of patients as early as 2003 in its original *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare* report. In order to ensure that healthcare workers are protected from the diseases they are expected to treat, NQF undertook an effort to achieve voluntary consensus on performance measures for immunizations to prevent seasonal influenza and pneumococcal disease across healthcare settings in the United States. This report, the product of that effort, presents three national voluntary consensus standards that are based on current guidelines. These standards, vetted by numerous healthcare stakeholders, comprise a uniform approach to measurement across settings and populations.

We thank CMS for its support of this project. We also thank the members of the National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations Steering Committee for their oversight of this project, and NQF Members for their commitment to preserving a safe healthcare work environment. These organizations are helping to protect the health and safety of the healthcare system's most precious resource, its workers.

GodM

Janet M. Corrigan, PhD, MBA President and Chief Executive Officer

© 2008. National Quality Forum All rights reserved

ISBN 978-1-933875-21-7

No part of this report may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior written permission of the National Quality Forum. Requests for permission to reprint or make copies should be directed to:

Permissions National Quality Forum 601 13th Street NW Suite 500 North Washington, DC 20005 Fax 202-783-3434 www.qualityforum.org

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	v
Introduction	1
Recommending Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations	2
Purpose	
Framework	
Scope	
Priority	
Harmonization	
Standard Measure Specifications	6
Endorsed Standard Specifications	11
Evaluating Candidate Consensus Standards	
NQF Evaluation Criteria	
Recommendations for Harmonized Measures for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations	15
National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations	16
Table 1. National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations	17
Discussion of Candidate Consensus Standards	
Endorsed Measures	
Measures Not Endorsed	
(continued)	

Recommendations	. 23
Recommendations Related to Measurement Gaps	. 23
Recommendations Related to Measurement Issues	. 23
Recommendations Related to Reporting/Implementation	. 23
Recommendations Related to Harmonization Issues	. 23
Acknowledgment	. 24
References	. 24
Appendix A – Specifications of the National Voluntary Consensus Standards	
for Influenza and Pheumococcal Immunizations A	4-1
Appendix B — Steering Committee and Project Staff E	3-1
Appendix C – Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications C	2-1
Appendix D – Future Review of Previously Endorsed Measures I	D-1

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

Executive Summary

The incidence of serious illness and unnecessary hospitalizations resulting from seasonal influenza and pneumococcal disease could be significantly reduced through the use of immunizations across the healthcare system, including clinician practice settings, hospitals, nursing homes, and the home care setting. It is estimated that vaccination coverage remains at less than 50 percent among certain groups for which annual seasonal influenza vaccination is recommended and at less than 50 percent for pneumococcal vaccination in recommended high-risk groups. Achieving universal immunization of all recommended groups requires a greater emphasis on vaccination across healthcare providers and sites of care.

In order to identify the gaps in appropriate immunization at the appropriate junctures, more global, harmonized measures of immunization need to be adopted. In the interests of standardization and minimizing burden for those implementing and using performance measures, harmonization of measure specifications is an important consideration in evaluating and recommending measures for endorsement. The opportunity to increasingly link measurement across healthcare providers and settings will form the foundation for a systems-based perspective on immunization and the reduction or elimination of preventable illnesses. This project was intended to achieve voluntary consensus on performance measures for immunizations to prevent seasonal influenza and pneumococcal disease across healthcare settings in the United States, with the goal of identifying a global measure or small set of aligned measures that are based on the same performance expectations. The Steering Committee identified standard measure specifications based on current guidelines that were used to recommend a uniform approach to measurement across settings and populations. Only measures aligned with the standard measure specifications were recommended as voluntary consensus standards. Revisions of previously endorsed measures are not required until the time of maintenance or time-limited endorsement review. Because none of the measure owners for the previously endorsed measures opted to submit modifications at this time, only three new measures were recommended and endorsed.

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

- Influenza vaccination of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents
- Influenza vaccination coverage among healthcare personnel (time-limited endorsement)
- Pneumococcal vaccination of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

Introduction

The incidence of serious illness and unnecessary hospitalizations resulting from seasonal influenza and pneumococcal disease could be significantly reduced through the use of immunizations across the healthcare system, including clinician practice settings, hospitals, nursing homes, and the home care setting. It is estimated that vaccination coverage remains at less than 50 percent among certain groups for which annual seasonal influenza vaccination is recommended¹ and at less than 50 percent for pneumococcal vaccination coverage in recommended high-risk groups.² Achieving universal vaccination of all recommended groups requires a greater emphasis on vaccination across healthcare providers and sites of cares.

In order to identify the gaps in appropriate immunization at the appropriate junctures, more global, harmonized measures of immunization need to be adopted. In the interests of standardization and minimizing burden for those implementing and using performance measures, harmonization of measure specifications is an important consideration in evaluating and recommending measures for endorsement. The opportunity to increasingly link measurement across healthcare providers and settings will form the foundation for a systems-based perspective on immunization and the reduction or elimination of preventable illnesses.

Recommending Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

A Steering Committee (Appendix B) established the approach for recommending consensus standards. The purpose, framework, and scope were identified to facilitate measure review and evaluation.

Purpose

The purpose of this project was to achieve voluntary consensus on performance measures for immunizations to prevent seasonal influenza and pneumococcal disease across healthcare settings in the United States. A set of voluntary consensus standards for influenza and pneumococcal immunizations could be used to:

- facilitate improvement in the proportion of indicated populations that receive influenza and pneumococcal immunizations and, ultimately, in the rates of seasonal influenza and pneumococcal disease and their associated mortality and morbidity;
- advance the reduction and elimination of disparities related to influenza and pneumococcal immunizations;
- facilitate benchmarking and sharing of best practices among providers;
- promote the use of evidence-based information to empower consumers to make decisions about healthcare;
- evaluate healthcare providers on their performance in ensuring that patients receive influenza and pneumococcal immunizations; and

serve as a mechanism for public reporting, by supplying stakeholders with information that will enable them to better understand the quality of care.

Framework

As a conceptual approach to organizing measures, a framework provides general guidance on categorizing measures for purposes of inclusion or exclusion and on identifying gaps in available quality measures. Figure 1 illustrates the structureprocess-outcome framework for influenza and pneumococcal immunizations that was adopted by the Steering Committee.

Scope

The scope of this project was limited to immunizations for influenza and pneumococcal disease. The Steering Committee agreed that children should be included in the measures as reflected in the current guidelines and excluded from consideration measures that only addressed assessing immunization status or recommending vaccination because they were not sufficient indicators of quality. As depicted in Figure 1, vaccination is the process step directly related to immunity and the desired outcomes; assessment and recommendation alone are insufficient and should not be measured separately from vaccination. Additionally, the guidelines and evidence always address assessment and recommendation in conjunction with actual vaccination – not separately.



The scope for this project encompasses measures that:

- apply to influenza and pneumococcal immunizations;
- include the elderly, those with significant comorbid illness and immunocompromised states, and children, as appropriate;
- include healthcare personnel; and
- apply to healthcare settings including, but not limited to, long-term care facilities (e.g., nursing homes, skilled nursing facilities, and assisted living facilities), home health agencies, hospitals, clinics, office practices, and dialysis facilities.

The scope excludes measures that address only "assessing immunization status" and/or "recommending immunization." However, assessing and recommending may be included with administering vaccine in a multipart measure, if each component is computed and reported separately.

Priority

The project's priority was to identify either one global measure that is applicable across healthcare providers and settings or a small set of closely aligned (harmonized) measures. Because in the current environment each care setting has different data sources and measure developers usually specialize in one setting, the Steering Committee recognized that more than one measure would be needed. However, it was recognized that the specifications should be closely aligned with the evidence and guidelines unless the evidence dictated differences for a particular patient population.

Harmonization

The current quality landscape includes many reporting initiatives and measure developers with a proliferation of measures. Duplication and overlap occur, because different quality initiatives focus on different settings and patient populations. Multiple measures with essentially the same focus create confusion in choosing measures for implementation and interpreting results. Differences in measure specifications limit comparability and understanding of results across settings and/or patient populations.

The following example (Box A) illustrates how various approaches to measure specifications can affect interpretability and comparisons. Depending on the approach used, the same data result in different scores and different pictures of immunization practice. With method 1, the two providers have identical scores (82 percent) for the measure. However, the percentage of patients actually vaccinated varies substantially (50 percent versus 70 percent) as seen when the data are broken down by numerator category in method 2. Method 3, which uses denominator exclusions, also minimizes the differences seen with method 2 (73.5 percent versus 79.5 percent), but not to the same extent as method 1. Other variations for computing and reporting measures also are used for immunization. This example merely illustrates how different specifications can affect interpretability and comparability.

In addition to the 12 National Quality Forum (NQF)-endorsed[®] measures for influenza and pneumococcal immunization that existed at the start of the project,

Method	Provider 1 100 patients	Provider 2 100 patients
 Score including assessed but not given due to declining vaccination or medical contraindication in one total numerator 	82%	82%
 Score using numerator categories of received vaccine, assessed but declined, and assessed but medical contraindication 	Received vaccine (50) - 50% Declined (27) - 27% Contraindications (5) - 5%	Received vaccine (70) - 70% Declined (10) - 10% Contraindications (2) - 2%
3. Score using denominator exclusions for declining vaccination or medical contraindication	50/100-32= 73.5%	70/100-12= 79.5%

Box A – Illustration of Measure Results Using Different Methods

15 new measures were submitted, resulting in a total of 27 with 16 measures focused on influenza immunization and 11 on pneumococcal immunization. A table of candidate consensus standards and currently endorsed measures that illustrates the variety of approaches to key measure specifications is provided in Appendix C.

Issues regarding harmonization had been discussed and studied for some time prior to this project; however, progress was not evident in the new measure submissions. In 2006, NQF's Pulmonary Consensus Standards Maintenance Committee reviewed previously endorsed immunization measures and noted that the hospital and nursing home measures were not aligned and suggested that the measure developers work collaboratively to harmonize and align the measures with current Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) guidelines. In January 2007, the Quality Alliance Steering Committee Harmonization Workgroup recommended that the developers of vaccination measures construct common denominator populations and numerator inclusions for all measures by reconciling the various approaches to exclusion.³ Although measure developers expressed support for harmonization, the measure specifications remained unaligned.

The definition of harmonization used for this project is as follows:

Measure harmonization refers to the standardization of specifications for similar measures on the same topic (e.g., influenza immunization of patients in hospitals or nursing homes), or related measures for the same target population (e.g., eye exam and HbA1c for patients with diabetes), or definitions applicable to many measures (e.g., age designation for children) so that they are uniform or compatible, unless differences are dictated by the evidence. The dimensions of harmonization can include numerator, denominator, exclusions, and data source and collection instructions. The extent of harmonization depends on the relationship of the measures, the evidence for the specific measure focus, and differences in data sources.

Achieving harmonization across measures is challenging for a variety of reasons; however, continuing the usual approach of measure review and evaluation was not likely to result in progress toward measure harmonization. The Steering Committee considered three potential approaches to harmonizing measure specifications. First, it could identify the best measure and use its specifications to identify modifications to other measures. Second, the Steering Committee could identify commonalities across measures and use those for the standard specifications - the lowest common denominator approach. Third, it could identify standard specifications based on the current guidelines and evidence. Because of the large number of measures for the two topics covered by this project and because the first two approaches do not ensure alignment with the guidelines, the Steering Committee adopted the third approach. The Steering Committee recommended only those measures that met the usual evaluation criteria of importance, scientific acceptability, usability, and feasibility and that were aligned with the standard specifications.

Standard Measure Specifications

The standard specifications provide a uniform approach to measurement across settings and populations by specifying who is included in/excluded from the target denominator population, who is included in the numerator population, and time windows for measurement and vaccinations. The Steering Committee used current guidelines from ACIP and others ^{1,4-12} to direct its decisions on all parameters. During the course of this project, ACIP revised its recommendation for vaccinating children against influenza to include children ages 6 months through 18 years,^{12,13} and the Steering Committee incorporated this revision into the standard specifications.

The Steering Committee noted that not all aspects and nuances of a clinical practice guideline can be captured in a measure. Exact replication of the guideline must be balanced with the ability to implement measurement consistently. The standard specifications are not intended to replace current guidelines; rather, they are intended to capture the most important aspects of the guidelines that can feasibly be measured.

Although some previously endorsed and newly submitted measures were in alignment with various aspects of the standard specifications, no measure was in alignment with all components of the standard specifications. Harmonization with standard specifications requires modifications to both previously endorsed and newly submitted measures as reflected in the Steering Committee's recommendations. Those aspects of the standard specifications that generated the most controversy and the Steering Committee's resolution of the controversies are discussed below.

Comprehensive Denominator Population

The Steering Committee decided that, to be consistent with guidelines, the immunization measures should be comprehensive and include all recommended populations to the extent that they are measurable. Ideally, the same measure should be applied to all settings; however, the current differences in data sources across settings necessitates that measure specifications be specific to the data available in each setting (e.g., Minimum Data Set [MDS] in nursing homes, CPT and G-codes in clinician office practices). Nonetheless, it was agreed that because the goal is to vaccinate all recommended patient populations, that is what should be measured. A comprehensive measure (for each unique data source) can be stratified to allow examination of a particular patient group of interest (e.g., diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) or used for a specialist group (e.g., nephrologist) without creating multiple versions of the same measure. A comprehensive measure approach would reduce the number of measures that are required and minimize the potential for misalignment across measures over time.

Target (Denominator) Population

The Steering Committee recognized the difficulty in identifying for measurement purposes some of the conditions recommended in the guidelines (e.g., any condition that can compromise handling respiratory secretions). Therefore, the Steering Committee identified the most prevalent chronic conditions for measurement purposes. Prevalence data and immunization coverage for conditions noted in the guidelines were reviewed when available to assist in specifying the most prevalent conditions as well as those that could be discreetly identified.

Numerator Categories

The Steering Committee identified three distinct numerator categories: 1) patients who received the vaccine, 2) patients who were assessed and offered, but declined, the vaccine, and 3) patients who were assessed and determined to have medical contraindications to receiving the vaccine. The measures under review handled these categories in a variety of ways, such as denominator exclusions or inclusion in one total numerator. As illustrated in Box A, different methods for handling these categories result in different scores and affect comparability and understanding. The Steering Committee selected the numerator category approach (illustrated in Box A, method 2), because it captures the most important step of the immunization process – vaccination – as well as assessment. This approach also acknowledges the issue of patients declining vaccination, allows identification of rates of declination, and is transparent for comparison purposes.

The specification of numerator categories for assessed but declined and assessed but contraindicated (in addition to vaccinated) was the subject of numerous Steering Committee deliberations throughout the process. During the comment period, an alternative approach was suggested that uses denominator exclusions (as illustrated in Box A, method 3), with additional reporting of the exclusion categories to the provider (and possibly to the public). The Steering Committee discussed the comments and suggestion and reaffirmed its recommendation to specify assessed/ declined and assessed/contraindicated as numerator categories and noted the following clarifications:

- The standard specifications for the immunization measures are intended to represent *both* assessment of immunization status *and* vaccination. Assessed but declined and assessed but contraindicated are specified as numerator categories, because they indicate patients whose immunization status was assessed even though they were not vaccinated.
- The standard specifications with numerator categories provide the most information for understanding variations in vaccination rates as well as undertaking quality improvement efforts. For example, substantial variations in the percentages of patients who decline immunization could stimulate improvement in patient education and engagement and in the identification of myths, as examples. True contraindications are considered rare, and substantial variations in the percentages of patients with contraindications might stimulate efforts to more accurately identify true contraindications.
- The use of a numerator category for declinations provides a transparent approach to accommodating and understanding the impact of patient preferences on vaccination.

- The Steering Committee is not recommending an overarching approach to the measurement of exclusions.ⁱ As noted above, numerator categories are suggested as a way to also capture patients who were screened for immunization status.
- One commenter expressed concern that the standard specifications could not be used with HEDIS data, because information on declinations and contraindications is not collected. However, the score for those who received the vaccine is still comparable, because declinations and contraindications are specified as numerator categories rather than as denominator exclusions.

Time Window for Influenza Immunization

One consideration for standardization and comparability in measurement is a standardized time window for influenza vaccination. According to the guidelines, the time to vaccinate against seasonal influenza is October through March. Earlier vaccinations also are allowed to avoid missing an opportunity to vaccinate. The standard specifications take both of these recommendations into account. There was some debate about the need to include the entire month of March in the window; however, there was not a compelling enough rationale for deviating from the guidelines, which state the following:

In any given year, the optimal time to vaccinate patients cannot be determined because influenza seasons vary in their timing and duration, and more than one outbreak might occur in a single community

ⁱNQF's measure evaluation criteria were updated in August 2008 and provide more explicit guidance regarding exclusions.

in a single year. In the United States, localized outbreaks that indicate the start of seasonal influenza activity can occur as early as October. However, in >80% of influenza seasons since 1976, peak influenza activity (which is often close to the midpoint of influenza activity for the season) has not occurred until January or later, and in >60% of seasons, the peak was in February or later. ... Vaccination efforts should continue throughout the season, because the duration of the influenza season varies, and influenza might not appear in certain communities until February or March. Providers should offer influenza vaccine routinely, and organized campaigns should continue throughout the influenza season, including after influenza activity has begun in the community (p. 29).¹

Additionally, the Steering Committee noted that the influenza vaccine contains several strains of the virus that could have outbreaks at different times.

Denominator Exclusion for Influenza Vaccine Supply Delays

An issue of considerable debate involved whether exclusions should be allowed for vaccine distribution problems. This does not refer to a general supply shortage, in which case measurement might be suspended. Rather, the proposed exclusion addresses variations in distribution timing across locations and/or providers (e.g., small providers may receive vaccine later than large entities), which the Steering Committee recognized as an issue of fairness. However, the Steering Committee agreed that the proposed exclusion for influenza "vaccine supply on order but not yet received" would require further specification in submitted measures to ensure consistent implementation. The recommended nursing home measure was only able to accommodate an exclusion for a declared shortage, and no well-specified examples for such an exclusion were identified. After further discussion of the comments received, the Steering Committee decided to remove the exclusion in the standard specifications for the following reasons:

- A systematic and consistent way to operationalize the exclusion was not identified (e.g., what distinguishes a delay in ordering vaccine from a delay in distribution; what period of time is needed for the exclusion, which generally should only be an issue early in the flu season; and what documentation is required?).
- Supply and distribution problems are becoming less frequent. ACIP noted the following in 2007:

This year, over 110 million doses were produced and more than 100 million have been distributed. ...Data on distribution by provider type show that no matter what the time period, private providers receive 40 percent or more of the vaccine distributed. Vaccine does not get distributed to providers last. (p. 28).¹⁴

The Steering Committee agreed that an exclusion would not be needed in a declared shortage, because all providers would be affected. Additionally, measure results without the exclusion could be used to identify a differential impact of a declared shortage across providers (i.e., not for comparative performance, just for information).

Time Window for Pneumococcal Immunizations

Unlike the influenza vaccine, there is no season specified for administering pneumococcal vaccine; however, it might be more likely to be administered in conjunction with influenza vaccine. The standard specifications indicate a 12-month measurement period. Although the nursing home measure can be constructed with a 12-month period, it was originally constructed with a 6-month period, because the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) believes that 6 months is more useful to quality improvement and monitoring change. Standardization generally requires uniform time periods, and the central question is whether a measure computed over a 12-month period is comparable to a measure computed over a 6-month period. Although the guidelines do not indicate an appropriate measurement time window, many quality measures are based on a 12-month period, which is not subject to potential seasonal variation and increases sample size.

Another timing issue for the pneumococcal immunization standard specifications involved whether there is a need for a separate measure focused specifically on patients turning age 65. Initially the Steering Committee considered two sets of pneumococcal standard specifications – one for a "prevalence" measure of patients ages 65 and older who ever received the pneumococcal vaccine and one for an "incidence" measure of patients who received the pneumococcal vaccine within 2 years of turning 65. Ultimately, the Steering Committee settled on one set of standard specifications, because the 65 through 67 age group is a subset of the recommended groups and could be measured as a subset using the standard specifications.

Numerator for Pneumococcal Immunizations

The numerator for the pneumococcal immunization standard measure specifications includes patients who "ever" received the PPV23 (pneumococcal polysaccharide) vaccine. The guidelines recommend a second vaccination in some circumstances (e.g., if first vaccination was prior to age 65); however, the Steering Committee believed that incorporating the circumstances for a second vaccination in the measure would increase the complexity of measurement without a commensurate benefit.

The PPV23 vaccine was identified in the specifications, because the conjugate vaccine is used only for children under age 5, and the standard measure specifications denominator includes high-risk populations beginning at age 5. Although the guidelines recommend PPV23 beginning at age 2 for some high-risk children, the Steering Committee recognized that the schedule for vaccination is different and more complicated for children ages 2 through 5, and it would be challenging to measure the "correct" vaccination. In the interest of implementation, the Steering Committee recommended specifications that were most feasible for measurement and reaffirmed its belief that the measures should not be viewed as a substitute for guidelines. If new pneumococcal vaccines are licensed, the measure specifications may need to be updated.

Endorsed Standard Specifications

Standard specifications were developed for influenza immunization, pneumococcal immunization, and healthcare personnel influenza immunization, in Box B, Box C, and Box D, as follows.

Box B—Influenza Immunization Standard Measure Specifications^a

Numerator^b – number of persons specified in the denominator who

- received the influenza vaccine^c (computed and reported separately)
- documented administration by the provider or patient (or responsible party/legal guardian) reported receipt from another provider
- OR were assessed and offered but declined the vaccination (computed and reported separately)
- OR were assessed and determined to have medical contraindication(s) (computed and reported separately) of anaphylactic hypersensitivity to eggs or other component(s) of the vaccine, history of Guillain-Barré syndrome within 6 weeks after a previous influenza vaccination,¹⁵ bone marrow transplant within the past 6 months⁶ (<6 months prior to encounters between October 1 and March 31)</p>
- during the time from October 1 (or when the vaccine became available) through March 31

Denominator – number of persons

- in a facility, agency, or practice with an encounter (or in a defined population) between October 1 and March 31
- (OR for health plan measures, enrolled^d with a plan between October 1 and March 31)
- who is age 50 and older or 6 mo. 18 yr.¹³
- OR resides in a long-term care facility (including nursing homes and skilled nursing facilities)
- OR is age 19-49 with prevalent high-risk conditions of pregnancy, diabetes, end-stage renal disease (ESRD), congestive heart failure (CHF), asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), human immuno-deficiency virus (HIV)^e

Denominator exclusions

Hospital patients who died before discharge

^a Not all aspects and nuances of a clinical practice guideline can be captured in a measure. These specifications are not intended to replace current guidelines; rather they are intended to capture the most important aspects of the guidelines that can feasibly be measured.

^bThe three numerator categories are computed separately and should not be added into one total numerator score.

^c Trivalent influenza vaccine (TIV) is Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved for persons ≥ 6 months, including those with high-risk conditions. Live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV) is FDA approved for use only among healthy persons ages 2-49.

^d Enrolled needs to be defined in any measure based on health plan enrollees.

^e These conditions should be included in a comprehensive measure, but are not intended to prevent focusing on a specific condition.



Numerator^b – number of persons specified in the denominator who

- received the influenza vaccine (computed and reported separately)
- documented administration by the provider (where healthcare personnel work/volunteer), or healthcare
 personnel reported receipt from another provider
- OR were assessed and offered but declined the vaccination (computed and reported separately)
- OR were assessed and determined to have medical contraindication(s) (computed and reported separately) of anaphylactic hypersensitivity to eggs or other component(s) of the vaccine, history of Guillain-Barré syndrome within 6 weeks after a previous influenza vaccination,¹⁵ bone marrow transplant within the past 6 months⁶ (<6 months prior to encounters between October 1 and March 31)</p>
- during the time from October 1 (or when the vaccine became available) through March 31

Denominator – number of persons

who meet the definition of healthcare personnel as defined by CDC⁸ who are working in a healthcare setting between October 1 and March 31

Denominator exclusions

None

^a Not all aspects and nuances of a clinical practice guideline can be captured in a measure. These specifications are not intended to replace current guidelines; rather they are intended to capture the most important aspects of the guidelines that can feasibly be measured.

^bThe three numerator categories are computed separately and should not be added into one total numerator score.



^a Not all aspects and nuances of a clinical practice guideline can be captured in a measure. These specifications are not intended to replace current guidelines; rather they are intended to capture the most important aspects of the guidelines that can feasibly be measured.

^bThe three numerator categories are computed separately and should not be added into one total numerator score.

^cPPV23 is the recommended vaccine for the ages specified in the denominator.

^d Enrolled needs to be defined in any measure based on health plan enrollees.

^e The specifications for high-risk groups begin at age 5, because the schedule for children ages 2-5 is different and complicated. These conditions should be included in a comprehensive measure, but are not intended to prevent focusing on a specific condition.

Evaluating Candidate Consensus Standards

Newly submitted measures were evaluated using the NQF-endorsed criteria of importance, scientific acceptability, usability, and feasibility (Box E) and were compared to the standard specifications described above. The previously endorsed measures, which had already been evaluated using the NQF criteria, were also compared against the standard specifications.

NQF Evaluation Criteria

Box E—Criteria for Evaluation and Selection

Proposed measures are evaluated for their suitability based on four sets of standardized criteria (e.g., importance, scientific acceptability, usability, and feasibility). Not all acceptable measures will be strong—or equally strong— among each of the four sets of criteria, or strong among each of their related criteria. Rather, a candidate measure is assessed regarding the extent to which it meets any of the desired criteria within each set:

- 1. Importance. This set addresses the extent to which a measure reflects a variation in quality, low levels of overall performance, and the extent to which it captures key aspects of the flow of care.
 - a. The measure addresses one or more key leverage points for improving quality.
 - b. Considerable variation in the quality of care exists.
 - c. Performance in the area (e.g., setting, procedure, condition) is suboptimal, suggesting that barriers to improvement or best practice may exist.
- Scientific acceptability. A measure is scientifically sound if it produces consistent and credible results when implemented.
 - a. The measure is well defined and precisely specified. Measures must be specified sufficiently to be distinguishable from other measures, and they must be implemented consistently across institutions. Measure specifications should provide detail about cohort definition, as well as the denominator and numerator for rate-based measures and categories for range-based measures.
 - b. The measure is reliable, producing the same results a high proportion of the time when assessed in the same population.
 - c. The measure is valid, accurately representing the concept being evaluated.
 - d. The measure is precise, adequately discriminating between real differences in provider performance.
 - e. The measure is adaptable to patient preferences and a variety of contexts of settings. Adaptability depends on the extent to which the measure and its specifications account for the variety of patient choices, including refusal of treatment and clinical exceptions.
 - f. An adequate and specified risk-adjustment strategy exists, where applicable.
 - Patient outcomes or consistent evidence is available linking the structure and process measures to patient outcomes.



Recommendations for Harmonized Measures for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

Because of the emphasis on harmonization, the Steering Committee reviewed previously endorsed measures in addition to the newly submitted measures. Because endorsed measures are reviewed every three years according to NQF's maintenance policy, previously endorsed measures would not be required to be changed until the maintenance or time-limited endorsement review. As a result of the Steering Committee's review, the measures fell into three groups: recommended, recommended with conditions, and not recommended.

Measures Recommended for the Voluntary Consensus Standards

Measures in this category meet the evaluation criteria and are aligned with

the standard specifications. The Steering Committee recommended these measures for the voluntary consensus standards. New untested measures in this category would be recommended for time-limited endorsement. Previously endorsed measures in this category would be recommended for continued endorsement.

Measures Recommended on the Condition of Alignment with Standard Specifications

The measures in this category were recommended on the condition that they become aligned with the standard specifications and, where indicated, combined into a comprehensive measure. New measures must meet this condition in order to advance in the consensus development process to be considered as voluntary consensus standards. Previously endorsed measures in this category could be modified during this project or at the time of their review for maintenance or time-limited endorsement.

None of the measure owners for the previously endorsed measures elected to make modifications to be considered for this project. However, modifications related to previously endorsed measures are not required until the scheduled maintenance or time-limited review. Ultimately, if measures were not modified to align with standard specifications they were not recommended.

Measures Not Recommended

Measures in this category were not recommended for voluntary consensus standards for a variety of reasons, including not meeting the standard evaluation criteria, not being in alignment with the standard specifications, or not being considered "best in class" among similar competing measures. New measure submissions in this category do not advance in the consensus development process. Previously endorsed measures within their three-year maintenance or two-year time-limited endorsement window will remain officially endorsed until scheduled measure review.

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

Three measures were recommended and endorsed as voluntary consensus standards (Table 1). The detailed measure specifications appear in Appendix A. Only measures aligned with the standard measure specifications were recommended as voluntary consensus standards.

r neunococcar minumzacions			
MEASURE NAME	MEASURE DESCRIPTION	IP OWNER	
0432 ^a Influenza vaccination of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents	Percent of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents given the influenza vaccination during the flu season, stratified by short- and long-stay patients.	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services	
0431 Influenza vaccination coverage among healthcare personnel Time-limited endorsement	Percentage of healthcare personnel who receive the influenza vaccination.	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	
0433 Pneumococcal vaccination of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents	Percent of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents whose pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV) status is up to date during the 12-month reporting period, stratified by short- and long-stay patients.	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services	

Table 1—National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

^aNQF measure number.

Discussion of Candidate Consensus Standards

Endorsed Measures

Influenza Immunization

0432 Influenza vaccination of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents (CMS)

The Steering Committee recommended the measure as modified to align with the standard specifications as one comprehensive measure stratified by short- and longstay residents (originally submitted as two measures, IM-001-07 and IM-002-07). There is no difference in the guidelines for immunization for short- and long-stay patients. The data source for both shortand long-stay patients is the required MDS. Although the MDS is completed at different frequencies for short- and long-stay patients, the measures use a six-month data capture from all MDS assessments within that period. CMS historically reports quality measures separately for short- and long-stay patients; however, the Steering Committee's recommendation for

a comprehensive denominator that can be stratifed is not intended to restrict reporting by short- and long-stay patients.

One aspect of the measure specifications did not exactly match the initial standard specifications because of the data that are available in the current version of MDS 2.0. The current instructions for the MDS category of "unable to obtain vaccine" pertains to a declared shortage, which is different than unequal distribution problems addressed in the proposed standard specifications as "vaccine supply on order but not received." Ultimately the exclusion for supply/distribution problems was removed from the standard specifications and from the nursing home measure.

0431 Influenza vaccination among healthcare personnel (CDC)

The measure was revised to align with the standard specifications and was recommended for inclusion in the voluntary consensus standards. It was recommended for time-limited endorsement, because no testing data were submitted.
A prior version of this measure was submitted but not approved during the Healthcare-Associated Infections project. Concerns about the exclusion of workers who refuse vaccination have since been remedied by the alignment of the measure with the standard specifications, in which declinations are clearly identified as a numerator category. The Steering Committee agreed that either administration or report of prior receipt must be documented, but that could be accomplished through a variety of methods, and the measure allows for that flexibility.

Pneumococcal Immunization 0433 Pneumococcal vaccination of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents (CMS)

The Steering Committee recommended the measure as modified to align with the standard specifications as one comprehensive measure stratified by short- and longstay residents (originally submitted as two measures, IM-003-07 and IM-004-07). There is no difference in the guidelines between immunizations for short-stay and long-stay patients. The data source for both shortand long-stay patients is the required MDS. Although the MDS is completed at different frequencies for short- and long-stay patients, the measure uses a six-month data capture from all MDS assessments within that period. CMS historically reports quality measures separately for short- and long-stay patients; however, the Steering Committee's recommendation for a comprehensive denominator that can be stratifed is not intended to restrict reporting for short- and long-stay patients.

One aspect of the measure does not exactly match the standard specifications due to the data that are available in the current version of MDS 2.0. The CMS pneumococcal measure is based on "up-to-date status" versus "ever received" as specified in the standard specifications. CMS representatives noted that the MDS language cannot be changed until the next update in 2009. The Steering Committee agreed that the CMS approach was aligned with guidelines, but noted that "ever received" is used in the standard specifications because of the complexity of determining "up-to-date status" and the periodic changes in the guidelines. The CMS approach results in a more stringent measure, but the Steering Committee agreed to approve it.

Measures Not Endorsed

The following measures were not recommended for endorsement either because they were judged to be inferior to competing measures.

Although a variety of issues were considered during the evaluation process, the major considerations were alignment with standard specifications and comprehensiveness to reflect the guidelines. New measures that did not meet the conditions set by the Steering Committee were not recommended for member voting and will not be further considered. However, modifications to previously endorsed measures are not required until the scheduled maintenance or time-limited endorsement review. Appendix D contains a table of all of the previously endorsed measures that will require modification at the time of review. In the following discussion, new measure numbers begin with "IM"; endorsed measure numbers are four-digit numbers.

Influenza Immunization

Clinician-Level Influenza Immunization Measure

The Steering Committee recommended that there be only one comprehensive clinician-level measure that can be applied to all recommended patients. Measure specifications should be modified to be consistent with standard specifications for a more comprehensive measure. A comprehensive measure should accommodate groups specified in 0041, IM-010-07, IM-014-07, IM-007-07, and 0227.

0041 Influenza vaccination (American Medical Association-Physician Consortium for Performance Improvement [AMA PCPI])

This measure was previously endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007) and could serve as the base measure for all clinician-level measures if modified to include all recommended groups. A comprehensive measure can still be applied to specific subgroups or stratified by subgroup.

Committee Recommendation: Modify to continue endorsement.

Conditions: Create one comprehensive clinician-level measure. Modify measure specifications to align with the standard specifications.

- IM-010-07[#] Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) influenza immunization administered (AMA PCPI)
- IM-014-07 HIV/AIDS-influenza immunization (National Committee for Quality Assurance [NCQA])

IM-007-07 Chronic kidney disease: influenza immunization (AMA PCPI)

The above measures are new and untested. These patient groups would be incorporated into the recommended comprehensive clinician-level measure that is aligned with the standard specifications.

Committee Recommendation: Conditions were not met. Do not recommend.

0227 Influenza immunization (AMA PCPI/Renal Physicians Associations [RPA])

This measure was recently granted time-limited endorsement (November 15, 2007), because it was untested. It should be included in one comprehensive clinician-level measure that can be applied to all conditions.

Committee Recommendation: Modify to continue endorsement.

Conditions: Create one comprehensive clinician-level measure. Modify measure specifications to align with the standard specifications.

0226 Influenza vaccination in the ESRD population—facilities (Kidney Care Quality Alliance [KCQA])

This measure was recently granted timelimited endorsement (November 15, 2007), because it was untested. Although the Steering Committee generally tried to avoid measures that focus on only one recommended target group, dialysis facilities only serve end stage renal disease (ESRD) patients and have a different data source. At this point in time, a separate measure is appropriate (as for nursing home and hospital patients).

Committee Recommendation: Modify to continue endorsement.

Conditions: Modify measure specifications to be consistent with standard specifications.

- IM-005-07 Community-acquired bacterial pneumonia: assessment of influenza immunization status (AMA PCPI)
- IM-009-07 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) recommendation of influenza immunization (AMA PCPI)
- IM-012-07 Universal influenza vaccine screening and counseling (CMS)

The Steering Committee determined that the above measures, which focus only on assessing and/or recommending immunization alone, are not sufficient indicators of quality. Assessing and recommending immunizations is not sufficient to achieving immunity patients must receive the vaccine. Measure IM-012-07 was intended for nonphysician clinicians. However, nonphysician clinicians (e.g., physicial/ occupational therapist, social worker, dietician) often practice in organizations covered by setting-specific measures (e.g., hospital, nursing home), and there is no evidence of the effectiveness of recommendations for immunizations from nonphysician clinicians who practice independent of healthcare organizations. A comprehensive clinicianlevel measure is also applicable for nurse practitioners and physician assistants as well as physicians

Committee Recommendation: Do not advance for consideration.

0189 Influenza vaccination for all nursing home residents (CDC) (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007)

CMS is no longer using this measure; CMS submitted a new measure that was endorsed (0432).

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend. CDC informed NQF that it agrees to retire this measure.

0149 Influenza vaccination (The Joint Commission/ CMS)

This measure was previously endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007), but it focuses only on hospitalized patients with a diagnosis of pneumonia. All hospitalized patients in recommended groups should receive the vaccine, not just pneumonia patients. Pneumonia is not specifically identified in the guidelines as a target condition; however, patients hospitalized with pneumonia may be more at risk for severe complications of influenza, and many patients with a diagnosis of pneumonia may have one of the target conditions. Numerator and denominator statements must reflect all of the inclusions/ exclusions identified in the measure definitions and algorithm. CMS contractors noted that the infrastructure for hospital quality measurement does not support a comprehensive measure. The Steering Committee indicated that a well-specified comprehensive measure also could be applied to specific patient populations such as those identified for CMS quality measurement.

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend. Recommend creating a comprehensive measure consistent with guidelines and standard specifications.

0039 Flu shots for adults ages 50-64 (NCQA)

0040 Flu shots for older adults (NCQA)

These measures are currently endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007). Because measures 0039 and 0040 differ only in the age groups they cover, they could be combined into one stratified measure. However, that measure still would not include all recommended groups. The measure developer clarified that the measures are used at the clinician level (the NQF Ambulatory Care project only accepted clinician-level measures) and at the plan level. As noted above, the Steering Committee recommended that there be only one comprehensive clinicianlevel measure that can be applied to all recommended patients. The measures are based on a patient survey, but who is surveyed and when are not indicated in the specifications. Furthermore, the Steering Committee agreed that patient survey is not the best way to measure immunization, especially for public reporting, because of issues related to sampling and response rates. It recommended that measures be based on documented administration or patient report of receipt to a provider, as called for in the standard specifications.

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend.

Pneumococcal Immunization

Clinician-level Pneumococcal Immunization Measure

The Steering Committee recommended that there be only one comprehensive clinician-level measure that can be applied to all recommended patients. Measure specifications should be modified to be consistent with standard specifications for a more comprehensive measure. A comprehensive measure should accommodate groups specified in 0044, IM-011-07, and IM-013-07.

0044 Pneumonia vaccination (NCQA/CMS)

This measure was previously endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007) and could serve as the base measure for all clinician-level measures if modified to include all recommended groups. A comprehensive measure still can be applied to specific subgroups or stratified by subgroup. **Committee Recommendation:** Modify to continue endorsement.

Conditions: Create one comprehensive clinician-level measure. Modify measure specifications to align with the standard specifications.

IM-011-07 HIV/AIDS-pneumonia vaccination (NCQA)

IM-013-07 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) pneumococcus immunization administered (AMA PCPI)

The above measures are new and untested. These patient groups would be incorporated in a comprehensive clinician-level measure that is aligned with the standard specifications.

Committee Recommendation: Conditions were not met. Do not recommend.

IM-006-07 Community-acquired bacterial pneumonia: assessment of pneumococcus immunization status (AMA PCPI)

The Steering Committee stated that measures of only assessing and/or recommending immunization are not sufficient indicators of quality. Assessing and recommmending immunizations is not sufficient to achieving immunity patients must receive the vaccine.

Committee Recommendation: Do not advance for consideration.

0188 Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccination of residents age 65 or older (CDC) (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007)

CMS is no longer using this measure; CMS submitted a new measure that was endorsed (0433).

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend. CDC informed NQF that it agrees to retire this measure.

0150 Pneumococcal vaccination (The Joint Commission/CMS)

This measure was previously endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007), but it focuses only on hospitalized patients with a diagnosis of pneumonia. All hospitalized patients in recommended groups, not just pneumonia patients, should receive the vaccine. Pneumonia is not specifically identified as a target condition; however, patients hospitalized with pneumonia may be more at risk for severe complications of pneumococcal disease, and many patients with a diagnosis of pneumonia may have one of the target conditions. Numerator and denominator statements must reflect all of the inclusions/ exclusions identified in the measure definitions and algorithm. CMS contractors noted that the infrastructure for hospital quality measurement does not support a comprehensive measure. The Steering Committee indicated that a well-specified comprehensive measure could also be applied to a specific patient population.

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend. Recommend creating a comprehensive measure consistent with guidelines and standard specifications.

0042 Pneumococcal vaccine needed for all adults aged 65 years or older (Resolution Health, Inc.)

This measure was previously endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007) and is still in use. The measure developer clarified that the measure is a positive metric (i.e., those who received the vaccine) and is based solely on claims data. Some Steering Committee members asked whether the measure is necessary, because the age group of 65 through 67 is a subset of the standard measure specifications. Initially, the Steering Committee was in favor of having standard specifications for an "incidence" measure that provides information about timely vaccination after patients turn 65. However, it was further clarified that the reason for the two-year look-back period in this measure is related to the availability of claims data. The Steering Committee did not think that claims alone are sufficient for a measure used for public reporting because it would not include receipt outside of the health plan. Although the measure is constructed so that only patients eligible for service during the two-year period are included in the denominator, the Steering Committee decided that the preferred approach is to include documented administration or patient report of receipt to a provider, as called for in the standard specifications.

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend.

0043 Pneumonia vaccination status for older adults (NCQA)

This measure was previously endorsed (most recent NQF action March 9, 2007). The measure developer clarified that the measure is used at the clinician level (the NQF Ambulatory Care project only accepted clinician-level measures) and also at the plan level. As noted above, the Steering Committee recommended that there be only one comprehensive clinicianlevel measure that can be applied to all conditions. It also noted that patient survey is not the best way to measure immunization, especially for public reporting because of issues related to sampling and response rates. It recommended that measures be based on documented administration or patient report of receipt to a provider, as called for in the standard specifications.

Committee Recommendation: Do not recommend.

Recommendations

The Steering Committee identified the following recommendations for research, measure development, and implementation.

Recommendations Related to Measurement Gaps

- Evaluate the benefit of developing:
 - outcome measures;
 - structure measures for evidence-based systems that improve vaccination rates (e.g., standing orders/protocols);
 - measures that include close contacts of recommended groups; and
 - system measures pertaining to distribution of vaccines.
- Develop measures related to other adult immunizations, (e.g., hepatitis B, herpes zoster).
- Develop composite measures to assess whether all recommended immunizations are up to date for adults and children.

Recommendations Related to Measurement Issues

- Evaluate the comparability of measures across data sources.
- Determine the data elements for electronic health records that would facilitate having one measure applicable for all settings/populations.
- Limit the information needed for healthcare personnel to factors related to immunization to avoid compromising privacy of personnel records.

- Update the standard measure specifications to maintain comparability of measures across settings and populations.
- Study whether distribution of the influenza vaccine is an issue that should be addressed in influenza measures.

Recommendations Related to Reporting/Implementation

- Evaluate the implementation of the immunization standard specifications including the use of the comprehensive measure with various subgroups.
- Determine the best way to report the multiple numerator categories (received vaccine, assessed but declined, assessed but medical contraindications).
- Evaluate the best way to report measures when the denominator is stratified.
- Use the measure results for the numerator categories of declined vaccination and medical contraindications to study potential barriers to immunization (e.g., myths and missed opportunities) and quality improvement strategies.

Recommendations Related to Harmonization Issues

- Define standard specifications that may apply to measures on other topics consistently across all measures including:
 - definitions that affect the denominator population (e.g., "enrolled" in health plan); and
 - coding (e.g., ICD, CPT) for specific patient populations.
- Develop a standard policy on use of exclusions.

Acknowledgment

his work was conducted under a contract from CMS.

References

¹ Fiore AE, Shay DK, Haber P, et al., Prevention and control of influenza. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2007;56(RR-6):1-54.

² National Health Interview Survey, *Pneumococcal: Self-Reported Pneumococcal Vaccination Coverage Trends* 1989 - 2006, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC); 2006. Available at www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/ vaccination/#coverage.

³ Quality Alliance Steering Committee, *Harmonization Work Group Final Report*, AQA; 2007.

⁴ Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 1997;46(RR-8):1-24.

⁵ ACIP, Recommended adult immunization schedule: United States, October 2007-September 2008, *Ann Intern Med*, 2007;147(10):725-729.

⁶ CDC, Infectious Disease Society of America, American Society of Blood and Marrow Transplantation, Guidelines for preventing opportunistic infections among hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients, *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2000;49(RR-10):1-7.

⁷ Kaplan JE, Masur H, Holmes KK, Guidelines for preventing opportunistic infections among HIV-infected persons – 2002, Recommendations of the U.S. Public Health Service and the Infectious Diseases Society of America, *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2002;51(RR-8):1-52. ⁸ Pearson ML, Bridges CB, Harper SA, Influenza vaccination of health-care personnel: recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC) and the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2006;55(RR-2):1-16.

⁹ U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, Section three, immunizations and chemoprophylaxis, *Guide to Clinical Preventive Services, Second Edition,* Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 1996.

¹⁰ Postema AS, Breiman RF, Adult immunization programs in nontraditional settings: quality standards and guidance for program evaluation, *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2000;49(RR-1):1-13.

¹¹ Tablan OC, Anderson LJ, Besser R, et al., Guidelines for preventing health-care-associated pneumonia, 2003: recommendations of CDC and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee, *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2004;53(RR-3):1-36.

¹² Fiore AE, Shay DK, Broder K, et al., Prevention and control of influenza: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2008;57(RR-7):1-60.

¹³ ACIP, CDC's Advisory Committee Recommends Influenza Vaccination for Children 6 Months Through 18 Years of Age, Department of Health and Human Services; 2008. Available at www.cdc.gov/media/pressrel/2008/ r080227.htm.

¹⁴ ACIP, February 21-22, 2007, Atlanta, Georgia, Record of the Proceedings; 2007. Available at www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/acip/ downloads/min-feb07.pdf.

¹⁵ Kroger AT, Atkinson WL, Marcuse EK, et al., General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 2006;55(RR-15):1-48.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix A

Specifications of the National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations

The following table presents the detailed specifications for the National Quality Forum (NQF)-endorsed[®] National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations. All information presented has been derived directly from measure sources/developers without modification or alteration (except when the measure developer agreed to such modification during the NQF Consensus Development Process) and is current as of September 2008.

0432^a INFLUENZA VACCINATION OF NURSING HOME/SKILLED NURSING FACILITY RESIDENTS (CMS)

Description: Percent of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents given the influenza vaccination during the flu season.

Setting: Nursing homes/skilled nursing facilities. Level of Analysis: Facility.

Numerator Statement: The number of residents in the denominator who meet any of the following criteria for the most recently completed influenza season (October 1 through March 31):

- (1) received the influenza vaccine within or outside the facility during the flu season (computed separately); or
- (2) were offered and declined the vaccination (computed separately); or
- (3) were determined to be ineligible due to medical contraindication(s) (computed separately) (i.e., anaphylactic hypersensitivity to eggs or other component(s) of the vaccine, history of Guillain-Barré syndrome within 6 weeks after a previous influenza vaccination, bone marrow transplant within past 6 months).

Denominator Statement: The measure will be stratified by resident population. Rates will be reported separately for the long-stay (chronic care) and short-stay (post-acute care) populations.

Denominator Statement for Chronic Care (Long-Stay) Residents

All residents in the chronic care influenza vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (any assessment or discharge tracking form) during the influenza vaccination reporting period (October 1 through June 30).

Chronic Care Influenza Vaccination Sample Definition

The chronic care influenza vaccination sample includes residents meeting any of the following three conditions indicating a non-PPS stay during the season:

- (1) resident has a non-PPS assessment during the influenza season (October 1 through March 31); or
- (2) resident has a discharge tracking form during the season and the prior MDS record was a non-PPS assessment within 100 days prior to discharge; or
- (3) resident had a stay with days during the season and was discharged prior to completion of an initial assessment. (Note that the discharge can be after the flu season end.)

Denominator Statement for Post-Acute Care (Short-Stay) Residents

All residents in the post-acute care influenza vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (any assessment or discharge) in the influenza vaccination reporting period (October 1 through June 30).

Post-Acute Care Influenza Vaccination Sample Definition

The post-acute care influenza vaccination sample includes residents meeting either of the following conditions:

(1) resident has a PPS assessment during the influenza season; or

(2) resident has a PPS assessment before the season with the next record being a discharge during the season.

Exclusions:

Resident-Level Exclusions

Residents satisfying any of the following conditions on the selected target assessment or discharge are excluded from the denominator:

(1) The resident was not in the facility during the influenza season.

Note: Residents are not excluded if either or both of the influenza vaccine items (W2a and W2b) have dash (-) values indicating inability to determine.

Facility-Level Exclusions

Facilities with small sample sizes are excluded from public reporting of the influenza vaccination measure.

^a IP owner – Intellectual Property owner. For the most current specifications and supporting information, please refer to the IP owner, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (www.cms.gov).

0432 INFLUENZA VACCINATION OF NURSING HOME/SKILLED NURSING FACILITY RESIDENTS (CMS) (continued)

Chronic Care Facility-Level Exclusions

Facilities are excluded if either of the following is true:

- (1) the chronic care influenza vaccination sample includes fewer than 30 residents; or
- (2) the facility has fewer than 30 non-PPS quarterly assessments (AA8a=05) for the entire facility for the year ending with the last day of the last completed influenza season (March 31).

Post-Acute Care Facility-Level Exclusions

Facilities are excluded if either of the following is true:

- (1) the post-acute care influenza vaccination sample includes fewer than 20 residents; or
- (2) the facility is excluded if there are no 5-day PPS assessments (AA8b=1) for the entire facility for the year ending with the last day of the influenza season (March 31).

Data Source: Data collection instrument, Instrument/Survey, Data Dictionary/Code.

Numerator Codes: Included in the numerator are residents meeting any of the following criteria on the most recent MDS assessment (of any kind) or discharge tracking form during the influenza reporting period (October 1 through June 30—when a vaccination is completed at the end of the flu season, the next opportunity to report the vaccination may be after the season is over. Extending the influenza vaccination reporting period through June allows for the capture of those late season vaccinations):

- (1) resident received the influenza vaccine during the most recent flu season, either in the facility (W2a=1) or outside the facility (W2b=2); or
- (2) resident was offered and declined the influenza vaccine (W2b=4); or

(3) resident was ineligible due to contraindication(s) (W2b=3).

Denominator Codes:

Chronic Care Denominator Codes

A resident is included in the chronic care influenza vaccination sample in any of the following 3 cases:

- (1) resident has a non-PPS OBRA assessment (AA8a=01, 02, 03, 04, 05, or 10 AND AA8b=6 or blank) with assessment reference date (A3a) during the influenza season; or
- (2) resident has a discharge tracking form (AA8a=06, 07, or 08) with discharge date (R4) during the influenza season. The preceding MDS record is a non-PPS OBRA assessment (AA8a=01, 02, 03, 04, 05, or 10 AND AA8b=6 or blank) with assessment reference date (A3a) before October 1, and the discharge date (R4) minus the assessment reference date (A3a) is 100 days or less; or
- (3) resident has a discharge tracking form "prior to completing the initial assessment" (AA8a=08). The start date of this stay is the later of the admission date (AB1) from the discharge tracking form or the 13th day prior to the discharge date (R4 date minus 13 days). Either the start date or the discharge date (R4) is within the influenza season.

Post-Acute Care Denominator Codes

A resident is included in the post-acute care influenza vaccination sample in either of the following cases:

- (1) resident has a PPS assessment whether or not it is also an OBRA assessment (AA8b=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, or 8 and AA8a=any value) with assessment reference date (A3a) during the influenza season; or
- (2) resident has a discharge tracking form (AA8a=06, 07, or 08) with discharge date (R4) during the influenza season AND the preceding MDS record is a PPS assessment (whether or not it is also an OBRA assessment: AA8b=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, or 8 and AA8a=any value) with assessment reference date (A3a) before October 1 and the discharge date (R4) minus the assessment reference date (A3a) is 45 days or less.

Exclusion Codes:

Resident-Level Exclusion Codes

Residents satisfying the following condition on the selected target assessment or target discharge (most recent record in the period from Oct. 1 through Jun. 30) are excluded: resident was not in the facility during the influenza season (W2b=1).

0431 INFLUENZA VACCINATION COVERAGE AMONG HEALTHCARE PERSONNEL (CDC), TIME-LIMITED ENDORSEMENT

Description: Percentage of healthcare personnel (HCP) who receive the influenza vaccination.

Setting: All. The different healthcare settings in which this measure may be applied include acute care hospitals, nursing homes and other long-term care facilities, physician's offices, urgent care centers, outpatient clinics, dialysis facilities, home health agencies, and emergency medical services. **Level of Analysis:** Facility/organization.

Numerator Statement: HCP in the denominator population who, during the time from when the vaccine became available through March 31:

- (a) received an influenza vaccination administered at the healthcare facility or reported having received influenza vaccination elsewhere (computed separately);
- (b) were determined to have a medical contraindication for receiving the vaccination (computed separately); or
- (c) declined the vaccination (computed separately).

Denominator Statement: Number of persons who are working in the healthcare facility between October 1 and March 31 who meet the CDC definition of healthcare personnel (HCP).*

- For each influenza season, influenza vaccination coverage among HCP should be measured at the overall facility level (e.g., hospital, nursing home).
- Additional stratification is recommended: component facility, ward, unit, and specialty; occupational group (e.g., nurse, physician, student/trainee); and HCP who perform direct patient care (i.e., hands on, face-to-face contact with patients for the purpose of diagnosis, treatment, and monitoring).

*The term HCP refers to all paid and unpaid persons working in healthcare settings and might include (but is not limited to) physicians, nurses, nursing assistants, therapists, technicians, emergency medical service personnel, dental personnel, pharmacists, laboratory personnel, autopsy personnel, students and trainees, contractual staff not employed by the health-care facility, and persons (e.g., clerical, dietary, housekeeping, maintenance, and volunteers) not directly involved in patient care but potentially exposed to infectious agents that can be transmitted to and from HCP (MMWR 2006 vol. 55 RR-2).

Exclusions: None.

Data Source: CDC's National Healthcare Safety Network module for healthcare personnel influenza vaccination; alternate database; medical or administrative records.

Numerator Codes:

Inclusions:

- 1. Documentation that the HCP received the vaccination** at this institution or reported receipt in a different setting during the current influenza season.
- 2. Documentation that the HCP was offered the vaccination but declined due to one of the following contraindications/conditions:
 - Allergy/hypersensitivity to eggs or vaccine component (type of reaction must be specified), or
 - · History of Guillian-Barré syndrome within 6 weeks following a previous influenza vaccination, or
 - Bone marrow transplant within the past 6 months.
- 3. Documentation that the HCP was offered the vaccination during the current or most recent influenza season and declined due to unspecified/other reasons.

** Influenza vaccination may be the trivalent inactivated vaccine (TIV) administered via intramuscular route or the live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV) administered via intranasal route. Healthy, nonpregnant individuals \leq 49 years old without high-risk conditions who are not contacts of the severely immunocompromised persons in special care units can receive either the LAIV or the TIV. All other persons should receive the TIV.

Denominator Codes:

Exclusion Codes:

0433 PNEUMOCOCCAL VACCINATION OF NURSING HOME/SKILLED NURSING FACILITY RESIDENTS (CMS)

Description: Percent of nursing home/skilled nursing facility residents whose pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV) status is up to date during the 12-month reporting period.

Setting: Nursing homes/skilled nursing facilities. Level of Analysis: Facility.

Numerator Statement: The number of residents in the denominator who meet any of the following criteria:

- (1) have up-to-date PPV status (computed separately); or
- (2) were offered and declined the vaccination (computed separately); or
- (3) were determined to be ineligible due to medical contraindication(s) (computed separately) (i.e., anaphylactic hypersensitivity to component(s) of the vaccine, bone marrow transplant within past 12 months, or receiving course of chemotherapy or radiation therapy within past two weeks).

Denominator Statement: The measure will be stratified by resident population. Rates will be reported separately for the long-stay (chronic care) and short-stay (post-acute care) populations.

Denominator Statement for Chronic (Long-Stay) Residents

All residents in the chronic care pneumococcal vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (any assessment or discharge tracking form) within the 12-month target period.

Chronic Care Pneumococcal Vaccination Sample Definition

The chronic care pneumococcal vaccination sample includes residents in the facility during the 12-month target period. The sample includes residents who meet any of the following conditions:

(1) resident has a non-PPS assessment during the 12-month target period; or

- (2) resident has a discharge tracking form during the 12-month target period and the prior record was a non-PPS assessment within 100 days prior to discharge; or
- (3) resident had a stay with days during the 12-month target period and was discharged prior to completion of an initial assessment. Note that the discharge can be after the target period end.

Denominator Statement for Post-Acute Care (Short-Stay) Residents

Residents in the post-acute care pneumococcal vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (any assessment or discharge tracking form) within the 12-month target period.

Post-Acute Care Pneumococcal Vaccination Sample Definition

The post-acute care pneumococcal vaccination sample includes residents in the facility during the selected 12-month target period. The sample includes residents who meet either of the following conditions:

- (1) resident has a PPS assessment with a reference date during the 12-month target period, or
- (2) resident has a PPS assessment before the 12-month target period with the next record being a discharge tracking form during the target period.

Exclusions:

Resident-Level Exclusions

There are no resident-level exclusions. Note that residents are not excluded if either or both of the pneumococcal vaccine items (W3a and W3b) have dash (-) values indicating inability to determine.

Facility-Level Exclusions

Facilities with small sample sizes are excluded from public reporting of the pneumococcal vaccination measures.

0433 PNEUMOCOCCAL VACCINATION OF NURSING HOME/SKILLED NURSING FACILITY RESIDENTS (CMS) (continued)

Chronic Care Facility-Level Exclusions

Facilities are excluded if either of the following is true:

- (1) the chronic care pneumococcal vaccination sample includes fewer than 30 residents; or
- (2) the facility has fewer than 30 non-PPS quarterly assessments (AA8a=05) for the entire facility for the year ending with the last day of the selected 12-month target period.

Post-Acute Care Facility-Level Exclusions

Facilities are excluded if either of the following is true:

- (1) the post-acute care pneumococcal vaccination sample includes fewer than 20 residents; or
- (2) the facility is excluded if there are no 5-day PPS assessments (AA8b=1) for the entire facility for the year ending with the last day of the 12-month target period.

Data Source: Data collection instrument, Instrument/Survey, Data Dictionary/Code.

Numerator Codes: Residents meeting any of the following criteria on the most recent MDS assessment (of any type) or discharge tracking form during the 12-month reporting period are included in the numerator:

- (1) resident's PPV status is up to date (W3a=1); or
- (2) resident was offered and declined the vaccine (W3b=2); or
- (3) resident was ineligible due to contraindication(s) (W3b=1).

Denominator Codes:

Chronic Care Denominator Codes

A resident is included in the chronic care pneumococcal vaccination sample in either of the following cases:

- (1) resident has a non-PPS OBRA assessment (AA8a=01, 02, 03, 04, 05, or 10 AND AA8b=6 or blank) with assessment reference date (A3a) during the 12-month target period; or
- (2) resident has a discharge tracking form (AA8a=06, 07, or 08) with discharge date (R4) during the 12-month target period AND the preceding MDS record is a non-PPS OBRA assessment (AA8a=01, 02, 03, 04, 05, or 10 AND AA8b=6 or blank) with assessment reference date (A3a) before the target period and the discharge date (R4) minus the assessment reference date (A3a) is 100 days or less; or
- (3) resident has a discharge tracking form "prior to completing the initial assessment" (AA8a=08). The start date of this stay is the later of the admission date (AB1) from the discharge tracking form or the 13th day prior to the discharge date (R4 date minus 13 days). Either the start date or the discharge date (R4) is within the 12-month target period.

Post-Acute Care Denominator Codes

A resident is included in the post-acute care pneumococcal vaccination sample in either of the following cases:

- (1) resident has a PPS assessment whether or not it is also an OBRA assessment (AA8b=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, or 8 AND AA8a=any value) with assessment reference date (A3a) during the 12-month target period; or
- (2) resident has a discharge tracking form (AA8a=06, 07, or 08) with discharge date (R4) during the 12-month target period AND the preceding MDS record is a PPS assessment whether or not it is also an OBRA assessment (AA8b=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, or 8 and AA8a=any value) with assessment reference date (A3a) before the target period and the discharge date (R4) minus the assessment reference date (A3a) is 45 days or less.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix B Steering Committee and Project Staff

Influenza and Pneumococcal Immunizations Steering Committee

Roger Baxter, MD (Co-Chair) Kaiser Permanente Oakland, CA

Jane Zucker, MD, MSc (Co-Chair) City of New York Department of Health and Mental Hygiene New York, NY

Andrea Benin, MD Yale New Haven Health System New Haven, CT

Peter Bowers, MD Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield in Connecticut North Haven, CT

Eddy Bresnitz, MD, MS State of New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services Trenton, NJ

Mary Fermazin, MD, MPA Health Services Advisory Group Phoenix, AZ

Lynda Flowers, JD, RN, MSN AARP Washington, DC

John Fong, MBA, MD BlueCross BlueShield North Carolina Durham, NC **Cliff Fullerton, MD** Baylor Health Care System Garland, TX

Joseph Hunter, MD, FAAFP Desoto Family Medical Center Southaven, MS

Lisa Jackson, MD, MPH Group Health Center for Health Studies Seattle, WA

Janet Maurer, MD American College of Chest Physicians Northbrook, IL

Kristin Nichol, MBA, MD, MPH Minneapolis VA Medical Center Minneapolis, MN

Lee Ann Quinn, RN, BS, CIC South County Hospital and OSAIC Wakefield, RI

Sheila Roman, MD, MPH Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Baltimore, MD

Catherine Sullivan, MPA Service Employees International Union Washington, DC

Margaret Terry, MS, PhD MedStar Health Visiting Nurse Association Calverton, MD

Project Staff

Helen Burstin, MD, MPH Senior Vice President, Performance Measures

Karen Beckman Pace, PhD, RN Senior Program Director

Reva Winkler, MD, MPH Clinical Consultant

Meetal Desai Program Director

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix C Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

The following table includes a comparison of key specifications for new measures as submitted and for previously endorsed measures. It illustrates the lack of harmonization on the measure specifications.

Notes: 1. New measure numbers begin with IM; endorsed measure numbers are four-digit numbers. 2. The coding instructions are not included with the numerator and denominator statements. 3. Focus: V=vaccinate; R=recommend; A=assess.

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
INFLUENZA IMI	MUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS						
0189 Influenza vaccination for all nursing home residents CDC	Nursing home residents who are screened for eligibility for influenza vaccine status and are either not eligible, or are eligible and receive the vaccine. Not eligible—Vaccination status is up-to-date <i>OR</i> Vaccine is medically contraindicated <i>OR</i> Resident refuses vaccination.	Nursing home residents who have resided in the facility for any length of stay from October 1 through March 31 of the year prior to the measurement (the most recent complete influenza season) including newly admitted residents.		V, A	Any age (presumed >6 mos).	NH residents.	10/1-3/31	Clinical database.	Nursing home/ Facility.
IM-001-07 Percent of long- stay residents given influenza vaccination during the flu season CMS	The number of residents in the Chronic Care influenza vaccination sample who received the influenza vaccine during the most recently completed influenza season (October 1 through March 31) as indicated on the selected target MDS record (assessment or discharge) by either of the following: (1) resident received the influenza vaccine in the facility	All residents in the Chronic Care influenza vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (assessment or discharge) in the Influenza Vaccination Reporting Period (October 1 through June 30). Chronic Care Influenza Sample Definition The Chronic Care influenza sample involves residents in the facility during the most recently completed influenza	 Exclusions: Residents satisfying any of the following conditions on the selected target assessment or target discharge: 1. The resident was not in the facility during the influenza season (W2b=1). 2. The resident was not eligible for the influenza vaccine (W2b=3)—Due to contraindications including: 	V, A	Any age (presumed >6 mos).	Chronic care NH residents.	10/1-3/31	Data collection instrument, Instrument/ Survey, Data dictionary/ Code.	Nursing home/ Facility.

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
INFLUENZA IM	MUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	RDS (continued)						
IM-001-07 Percent of long- stay residents given influenza vaccination during the flu season CMS (continued)	(W2a=1), or (2) resident received the influenza vaccine outside the facility (W2b=2). Vaccinations provided during the influenza season and reported during the influenza reporting period (October 1 through June 30) are included.	season (October 1 through March 31). Two types of residents are included in this sample: (1) chronic care residents with a non-PPS assessment in effect during any part of the season, and (2) post-acute care residents during the season with no assessment in effect.	 allergic reaction to eggs or other vaccine compound(s), a physician order not to immunize, or an acute febrile illness is present; however, the resident should be vaccinated if contraindications end. The resident was offered the influenza vaccine but declined (W2b=4). The facility was unable to obtain the vaccine (W2b=6)—Vaccine unavailable at the facility due to declared vaccine shortage; however the resi- dent should be vaccinated once the vaccine is received. Note: Residents are not excluded if either or both of the influenza vaccine items (W2a and W2b) have dash (-) values indicating inability to determine. 						

Annondiv C Condidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Voy Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
INFLUENZA IMM	NUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
IM-002-07 Percent of short- stay residents given influenza vaccination during the flu season CMS	The number of residents in the influenza vaccination sample (Post-Acute Care) who received the influenza vaccine during the most recently completed influenza season (October 1 through March 31) as indicated on the selected target MDS record (assessment or discharge) by either of the following: (1) resident received the influenza vaccine in the facility (W2a=1), or (2) resident received the influenza vaccine outside the facility (W2b=2). Vaccinations provided during the influenza season and reported during the influenza reporting period (October 1 through June 30) are included.	All residents in the influenza vaccination sample (Post-Acute Care) with a valid MDS target record (assessment or discharge) in the Influenza Vaccination Reporting Period (October 1 through June 30). Post-Acute Care Influenza Sample Definition The Post-Acute Care influenza sample involves residents in the facility during the most recently completed influenza season (October 1 through March 31). A resident is included in the Post-Acute Care influenza vaccination sample in either of the following 2 cases: 1. The resident is Post-Acute Care during the influenza season, as indicated by a Post-Acute PPS assessment with reference date during the influenza season. 2. The resident is Post-Acute	 Exclusions: Residents satisfying any of the following conditions on the selected target assessment or target discharge: 1. The resident was not in the facility during the influenza season (W2b=1). 2. The resident was not eligible for the influenza vaccine (W2b=3)—Due to contraindications including: allergic reaction to eggs or other vaccine component(s), a physician order not to immunize, or an acute febrile illnes is present; however, the resident should be vaccinated if contraindications end. 3. The resident was offered the influenza vaccine but declined (W2b=4). 	V, A	Any age (presumed >6 mos).	Post-acute care NH residents.	10/1-3/31	Data collection instrument, Instrument/ Survey, Data dictionary/ Code.	Nursing home/ Facility.

Annandiy (----Candidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
INFLUENZA IM	MUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
IM-002-07 Percent of short- stay residents given influenza vaccination during the flu season CMS (continued)		Post-Acute Care PPS assess- ment before the season with the next record being a discharge during the season.	 4. The facility was unable to obtain the vaccine (W2b=6)—Vaccine unavailable at the facility due to declared vaccine shortage; however, the resident should by vaccinated once the vaccine is received. Note: Residents are not excluded if either or both of the influenza vaccine items (W2a and W2b) have dash (-) values indicating inability to determine. 						
0149 Influenza vaccination The Joint Commission CMS	Patients discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March with pneumonia, age 50 and older, who were screened for influenza vaccine status and were vaccinated prior to discharge, if indicated.	 Pneumonia patients 50 years of age and older Discharges: With an ICD-9-CM Principal Diagnosis Code of pneumonia as defined in Appendix A, Table 3.1 <i>OR</i> ICD-9-CM Principal Diagnosis Code of septicemia or respiratory failure (acute or chronic) as defined in Appendix A, Tables 3.2, or 3.3 	 Patients who received Comfort Measures Only Patients who expired in the hospital Patients who left the hospital against medical advice (AMA) Patients who were discharged to hospice care Patients with a secondary diagnosis of 487.0 (influenza with pneumonia) 	V, A	≥50 yrs.	Pneumonia.	Oct-Mar.	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data.	Hospital/ Facility.

Annondiv C Condidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Koy Specifications

Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
MUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
	 AND With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1) Who are inpatient, 50 years of age and older who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March. 	 Patients who were transferred to another short term general hospital for inpatient care, or who were discharged/transferred to a federal hospital Patients who had no chest x-ray or CT scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arrival or any time during this hospitalization Patients with Cystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) Patients involved in clinical trials Patients who have a Length of Stay >120 days Vaccine has been ordered but has not yet been received by the hospital due to problems with vaccine production or distribution. 						
		AND With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1) Who are inpatient, 50 years of age and older who were discharged during October, November, December,	MUNIZATION CANDIDATE CONSENSUS STANDARDS (continued) AND • With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1) • Patients who were transferred to another short term general hospital for inpatient care, or who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March. • Patients who had no chest x-ray or CT scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arrival or any time during this hospitalization • Patients with Cystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) • Patients who have a Length of Stay > 120 days • Vaccine has been ordered but has not yet been received by the hospital due to problems with vaccine	MUNIZATION CANDIDATE CONSENSUS STANDARDS (continued) AND • With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1) • Who are inpatient, 50 years of age and older who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March. • Patients with or trians • Patients with Cystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) • Patients with Qystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) • Patients with Qystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) • Patients who have a Length of Stay > 120 days • Vaccine has been ordered but has not yet been received by the hospital due to problems with vaccine	MUNIZATION CANDIDATE CONSENSUS STANDARDS (continued) AND • With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1) • Who are inpatient, 50 years of age and older who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March. • Patients with Oystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) • Patients with Cystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4) • Patients who have a Length of Stay >120 days • Vaccine has been ordered but has not yet been received by the hospital due to problems with vaccine	Numerator StatementExclusionsFocusAgePopulationMUNIZATION CANDIDATE CONSENSUS STANDARDAND- With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1)- Patients who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March Patients who had no chest x-ray or CT scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arrival or any time during this hospitalization- Patients with Cystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.1)Patients who are inpatient, 50 years of age and older who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March Patients who had no chest x-ray or CT scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arrival or any time during this hospitalization Patients with Cystic Fibrosis (Appendix A, Table 3.4)- Patients who have a Length of Stay >120 daysPatients who have a Length of Stay >120 days- Vaccine has been ordered but has not yet been received by the hospital due to problems with vaccine- Vaccine has been ordered but has not yet been	Numerator StatementDenominator StatementExclusionsFocusAgePopulationTimeMUNIZATION CANDIDATE CONSENSUS STANDARDSAND- With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1)- Patients who were transferred to another short term general hospital for inpatient care, or who were discharged/transferred to a federal hospital of age and older who were discharged during October, November, December, January, February, or March Patients who had no chest x-ray or CI scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arrival or any time during this hospitalization Patients who have a Length of Stay >120 days- Wacine has been ordered but has not yet been received by the hospital due to problems with vaccine- Patients with vaccine	Numerator StatementDenominator StatementExclusionsFocusAgePopulationTimeSourceMUNIZATION CANDID/EUC/SENSUS STANDAR/AND-Patients who were transferred to another short term general hospital for inpatient care, or who were discharged during October, January, February, or MarchPatients who were transferred to another short term general hospital for inpatient care, or who were discharged during October, January, February, or MarchPatients who hade no chest x-ray or CT scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arization-All

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
INFLUENZA IMA	NUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
0039 Flu shots for adults ages 50-64 NCQA	The number of patients in the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question "Have you had a flu shot since September 1, YYYY?"	The number of patients 50-64 years who responded "Yes" or "No" to the question "Have you had a flu shot since September 1, YYYY?"		V	50-64 yrs.	AII.	9/1-present (current flu season).	Patient survey.	Out- patient/ Individual, Group.
0040 Flu shots for older adults NCQA	The number of patients in the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question, "Have you had a flu shot since September 1, YYYY?"	The number of patients 65 years or older who responded "Yes" or "No" to the question, "Have you had a flu shot since September 1, YYYY?"		V	≥65 yrs.	All.	9/1-present (current flu season).	Patient survey.	Out- patient/ Individual/ Group.
0041 Influenza vaccination AMA PCPI	Patients who received influenza vaccination from September through February of the year prior to the measurement period.	All patients ≥50 years of age at the beginning of the one-year measurement period.	 Exclusions: Egg allergy Adverse reaction to influenza vaccine Other medical reason(s) documented by the practitioner for not receiving an influenza vaccination Patient reason(s) (e.g., economic, social, religious). 	V	≥50 yrs.	All.	Sept-Feb.	Medical record, Electronic health record.	Physician office/ Individual/ Group.

C-7

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
INFLUENZA IMA	NUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
IM-010-07 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) influenza immunization administered AMA PCPI	Patients who are administered an influenza immunization during the visit or who have already received an influenza immunization the current flu season.* *Current flu season is defined as September through February.	All patients aged 18 years and older with the diagnosis of COPD seen during the flu season.	Documentation of medical reason(s) for not administering the influenza immunization; documentation of patient reason(s) for not administering the influenza immunization (e.g., documentation that patient is planning to receive influenza immunization during the current flu season); documentation of system reason(s) for not recommending an influenza immunization.	V, A	≥18 yrs.	COPD.	Sept-Feb.	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group.
IM-014-07 HIV/AIDS-influenza immunization NCQA	All patients for whom an influenza immunization was administered or documented to have been previously received within the past 12 months.	All patients aged 6 months and older with a diagnosis of HIV/AIDS who have been seen at least once in each 6-month period, with at least 60 days in between each visit.	Medical reasons, which includes contraindication (patient allergic history, potential adverse drug interaction, other); system reasons, which includes vaccine unavailable.	V, A	≥6 mos.	HIV/AIDS.	Past 12 mos.	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record, Other.	Out- patient/ All.

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
INFLUENZA IMI	MUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
IM-007-07 Chronic kidney disease: influenza immunization AMA PCPI	Patients who received the influenza immunization during the flu season (September through February).	All patients aged 18 years and older with the diagnosis of advanced CKD (stage 4 or 5, not receiving RRT).	Documentation of medical reason(s) for patient not receiving the influenza immunization; documentation of patient reason(s) for patient not receiving the influenza immunization; documentation of system reason(s) for patient not receiving the influenza immunization.	V	≥18 yrs.	Stage 4-5 CKD.	Sept-Feb.	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record.	Physician office/ Individua Group.
0227 Influenza immunization AMA PCPI RPA	Patients who received the influenza immunization during the flu season (September through February).	All patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of ESRD and receiving dialysis.	Documentation of medical reason(s) for patient not receiving the influenza immunization; documentation of patient reason(s) for patient not receiving the influenza immunization; documentation of system reason(s) for patient not receiving the influenza immunization.	V	≥18 yrs.	ESRD- dialysis.	Sept-Feb.	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Pharmacy.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group.
0226 Influenza vaccination in the ESRD population- facilities KCQA	Number of patients who receive an influenza vaccination during the flu season (October 1 - March 31).	All ESRD patients aged 18 years and older receiving hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis during the flu season (October 1 - March 31).	None.	V	≥18 yrs.	ESRD- dialysis.	10/1-3/31	Admini- strative data; Medical record data.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group. (mor

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting Level
INFLUENZA IM	MUNIZATION CANDID	ATE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
IM-015-07 Influenza vaccination of all healthcare personnel CDC	Number of healthcare personnel who receive influenza vaccination.	Number of healthcare personnel who work in facility. HCP refers to all paid and unpaid persons working in health-care settings who have the potential for exposure to infectious materials, including body substances, contaminated medical supplies and equipment, contaminated environmental surfaces, or contaminated air. HCP might include (but are not limited to) physicians, nurses, nursing assistants, therapists, technicians, emergency medical service personnel, dental personnel, pharmacists, laboratory personnel, autopsy personnel, students and trainees, contractual staff not employed by the health-care facility, and persons (e.g., clerical, dietary, housekeeping, maintenance, and volunteers) not directly involved in patient	Healthcare personnel who have medical or religious contraindi- cations to vaccination or healthcare personnel who refuse vaccination.	V	AII.	Healthcare personnel.	?	Other.	AII/AII.

Annondiv C Condidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Koy Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
INFLUENZA IMI	MUNIZATION CANDIDA	TE CONSENSUS STANDAR	DS (continued)						
IM-015-07 Influenza vaccination of all healthcare personnel CDC (continued)		care but potentially exposed to infectious agents that can be transmitted to and from HCP. The recommendations in this report apply to HCP in acute care hospitals, nursing homes, skilled nursing facilities, physician's offices, urgent care centers, and outpatient clinics, and to persons who provide home healthcare and emergency medical services.							(mo.

Ctondovdo ovd Co . div C Candidata Ca f Vou Cu o sifi coti o

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	IDARDS						
0188 Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccination of residents age 65 or older CDC	Nursing home residents who are screened for eligibility for pneumococcal vaccine status within 30 days of admission and are either not eligible or are eligible and receive the vaccination. Not eligible—Vaccination status is up-to-date <i>OR</i> Vaccine is medically contraindicated <i>OR</i> Resident refuses vaccination.	All newly admitted residents age 65 or older.		V, A	≥65 yrs.	Newly admitted NH residents.	One-year period?	Clinical database.	Nursing home/ Facility.
IM-003-07 Percent of long- stay residents who were assessed and given pneumococcal vaccination CMS	Chronic care residents in the pneumococcal vaccina- tion sample who have an up-to-date pneumococcal vaccination (W3a=1) with- in the 6-month target peri- od as indicated on the selected MDS target record (assessment or discharge). Up-to-date: All the Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine	Residents in the pneumococcal vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (assessment or discharge) within the 6- month target period. The Chronic Care pneumococcal sample involves residents in the facility during the selected 6-month target period used for the pneumococcal vaccination QM. Two types of residents	Exclusions: Residents satisfying any of the following conditions on the selected target assessment or target discharge: 1. Resident not eligible for pneumococcal vaccination (W3b=1)—Due to contraindications including: allergic reaction to vaccine component(s), a physician order not to immunize, or an acute febrile illness is	V, A	Any age (presumed >2 yrs.).	Chronic care NH residents.	Ever.	Data collection instrument, Instrument/ Survey, Data dictionary/ Code.	Nursing home/ Facility.

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	NDARDS (continued)						
IM-003-07 Percent of long- stay residents who were assessed and given pneumococcal vaccination CMS (continued)	(PPV) is given once in a lifetime, with certain exceptions. Persons 65 and older should be administered a second dose of vaccine (booster vaccine), if they received the first dose of vaccine more than 5 years earlier and were less than 65 years old at the time. For any immuno- competent person who has received a dose of PPV at age 65 or older, revaccination is not indicated. The CDC recommends a second (booster) dose for immuno- compromised persons due to: a damaged spleen or no spleen, Sickle-cell disease, HIV infections or AIDS, Cancer, leukemia, lymphoma, multiple myeloma, kidney failure, nephrotic syndrome, history of an organ or bone transplant, or medication	are included in the Chronic Care pneumococcal sample: (1) chronic care residents with a non-PPS assessment in effect during any part of the 6-month target period and (2) post-acute care residents during the target period with no assessment in effect.	present; however, the resident should be vaccinated after contraindications end. 2. Pneumococcal vaccination was offered but declined by the resident (W3b=2). Note: Residents are not excluded if either or both of the pneumococcal vaccine items (W3a and W3b) have dash (-) values indicating inability to determine.						(more)

Annondiv C Condidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Koy Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	NDARDS (continued)						
IM-003-07 Percent of long- stay residents who were assessed and given pneumococcal vaccination CMS (continued)	regimens that lowers immunity (such as chemotherapy or long-term steroids). When any of these conditions are present, persons older than 10 years old (including those 65 years of age and older) should get the second (booster) dose 5 years after the first dose. Children 10 years old and younger may get this second (booster) dose 3 years after the first dose.								

Annondiv C Condidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Koy Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	IDARDS (continued)						
IM-004-07 Percent of short- stay residents who were assessed and given the pneumococcal vaccination CMS	Post-acute care residents in the pneumococcal vacci- nation sample who have an up-to-date pneumococcal vaccination (W3a=1) within the 6-month target period as indicated on the selected MDS target record (assessment or discharge). Up-to-date: All the Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine (PPV) is given once in a lifetime, with certain exceptions. Persons 65 and older should be administered a second dose of vaccine (booster vaccine), if they received the first dose of vaccine more than 5 years earlier and were less than 65 years old at the time. For any immuno- competent person who has received a dose of PPV at age 65 or older, revaccina- tion is not indicated. The	 Residents in the pneumococcal vaccination sample with a valid MDS target record (assessment or discharge) within the 6-month target period. The Post-Acute Care pneumococcal sample involves residents in the facility during the selected 6-month target period used for the pneumococcal vaccination QM. Post-Acute residents with a PPS assessment in effect during any part of the target period are included. A resident is included in either of the following cases: The resident is Post-Acute Care during the 6-month target period, as indicated by a Post-Acute PPS assessment with reference date during the target period. The resident is Post-Acute Care during the 6-month target period. The resident is Post-Acute Care during the 6-month target period. 	 Exclusions: Residents satisfying any of the following conditions on the selected target assessment or target discharge: 1. Resident not eligible for pneumococcal vaccination (W3b=1)—Due to contraindications including: allergic reaction to vaccine component(s), a physician order not to immunize, or an acute febrile illness is present; however, the resident should be vaccinated after contraindications end. 2. Pneumococcal vaccination was offered but declined by the resident (W3b=2). Note: Residents are not excluded if either or both of the pneumococcal vaccine items (W3a and W3b) have dash (-) values indicating inability to determine. 	V, A	Any age (presumed >2 yrs.).	Post-acute care NH residents.	Ever.	Data collection instrument, Instrument/ Survey, Data dictionary/ Code.	Nursing home/ Facility.

Annandiy C___Candidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	IDARDS (continued)						
IM-004-07 Percent of short- stay residents who were assessed and given the pneumococcal vaccination CMS (continued)	CDC recommends a second (booster) dose for immuno- compromised persons due to: a damaged spleen or no spleen, Sickle-cell disease, HIV infections or AIDS, Cancer, leukemia, lymphoma, multiple myeloma, kidney failure, nephrotic syndrome, history of an organ or bone transplant, or medication regimens that lowers immunity (such as chemotherapy or long- term steroids). When any of these conditions are present, persons older than 10 years old (including those 65 years of age and older) should get the second (booster) dose 5 years after the first dose. Children 10 years old and younger may get this second (booster) dose 3 years after the first dose.	a Post-Acute Care PPS assessment before the target period with the next record being a discharge during the target period.							

Annondiv C Condidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Koy Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting, Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	IDARDS (continued)						
0150 Pneumococcal vaccination The Joint Commission CMS	Patients with pneumonia, age 65 and older, who were screened for pneumococcal vaccine status and were vaccinated prior to discharge, if indicated.	 Pneumonia patients 65 years of age and older Discharges: Who were age 65 years and older With an ICD-9-CM Principal Diagnosis Code of pneumonia as defined in Appendix A, Table 3.1 <i>OR</i> ICD-9-CM Principal Diagnosis Code of septicemia or respiratory failure (acute or chronic) as defined in Appendix A, Tables 3.2 or 3.3 <i>AND</i> With an ICD-9-CM Other Diagnosis Code of pneumonia (Appendix A, Table 3.1). 	 Patients receiving Comfort Measures Only Patients who expired in the hospital Patients who left against medical advice (AMA) Patients who were discharged to hospice care Patients who were transferred to another short-term general hospital for inpatient care Patients who were discharged to a federal hospital Patients less than 65 years of age Patients who had no chest x-ray or CT scan that indicated abnormal findings within 24 hours prior to hospital arrival or anytime during this hospitalization Patients involved in clinical trials Patients who have a Length of Stay >120 days. 	V, A	≥65 yrs.	Pneumonia.	One-year period?	Medical record, adminis- trative claims data.	Hospital Facility.

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

L IMMUNIZATION CAN		Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	IDARDS (continued)						
Adults aged 65 to 67 years who have received a pneumococcal vaccine.	Adults aged 65 to 67 years old Inclusion criteria: Patients must be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.	Exclusion criteria: None (Claims data does not currently include clinical information).	V	65-67 yrs.	All.	Ever in 2 years prior to observation point.	Admini- strative claims data.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group.
The number of patients in the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot? This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called the pneumococcal vaccine."	The number of patients 65 years and older as of January 1 of the measurement year who responded "Yes" or "No" to the questions "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot? This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called the pneumococcal vaccine."		V	≥65 yrs.	All.	Ever.	Patient survey.	Physician office/ Individual Group.
	The number of patients in the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot? This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called the	pneumococcal vaccine.be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.The number of patients in the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?The number of patients 65 years and older as of January 1 of the measurement year who responded "Yes" or "No" to the questions "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called theThe number of patients 65 years and older as of January 1 of the measurement year who responded "Yes" or "No" to the questions "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot? This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called the	pneumococcal vaccine.be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.clinical information).The number of patients in the denominator who question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?The number of patients 65 years and older as of January 1 of the measurement year who responded "Yes" to the questions "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?Image: Comparison of the text of te	pneumococcal vaccine.be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.clinical information).The number of patients in the denominator who question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?The number of patients 65 years and older as of January 1 of the measurement year who responded "Yes" or "No" to the questions "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot? This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot.V	pneumococcal vaccine.be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.clinical information).Image: Service of the service	pneumococcal vaccine.be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.clinical information).IIIThe number of patients in the denominator who question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?The number of patients 65 	pneumococcal vaccine.be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years.clinical information).Image: Service of the constraint of the constraint of the constraint of the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?The number of patients 65 years and older as of January 1 of the measurement year who responded "Yes" or "No" to the question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot?V≥65 yrs.All.Ever.This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the measurement of the flu shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. Image: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Service of the flue shot. It is also called theImage: Ser	pneumococcal vaccine. be between 65 and 67 years old and eligible to receive services during the past 2 years. The number of patients in the denominator who responded "Yes" to the question "Have you ever had a pneumonia shot? This shot is usually given only once or twice in the person's lifetime and is different from the flu shot. It is also called the

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	IDIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	NDARDS (continued)						
0044 Pneumonia vaccination NCQA CMS	Patients who have ever received a pneumococcal vaccination.	All patients ≥65 years of age in the measurement year.	 Exclusions: Previous anaphylactic reaction to the vaccine or any of its components Other medical reason(s) documented by the practitioner for not receiving a pneumococcal vaccination (ICD-9-CM exclusion codes for PC-8 Pneumonia Vaccination: 995.0 and E949.6, 995.1 and E949.6, 995.2 and E949.6) Patient reason(s) (e.g., economic, social, religious). 	V	≥65 yrs.	All.	Ever.	Medical record, Electronic health record.	Physician office/ Individual Group.
IM-011-07 HIV/AIDS- pneumonia vaccination NCQA	Patients for whom a pneumococcal immuniza- tion was administered at least once since diagnosis of HIV infection.	All patients aged 2 years and older with a diagnosis of HIV/AIDS who have been seen at least once in each 6-month period, with at least 60 days in between each visit.	Medical reasons, which includes: contraindicated (patient allergic history, potential adverse drug interaction, other).	V	≥2 yrs.	HIV/AIDS.	Once since dx of infection.	Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record, Other.	Out- patient/ All.

Annandiy (----Candidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAN	NDARDS (continued)						
IM-013-07 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) pneumococcus immunization administered AMA PCPI	Patients who are administered a pneumococcus immunization during a visit or who have already received a pneumococcus immunization.	Patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of COPD.	Documentation of medical reason(s) for not administering the pneumococcus immuniza- tion; documentation of patient reason(s) for not administering the pneumococcus immuniza- tion; documentation of system reason(s) for not administering the pneumococcus immuniza- tion (e.g., pneumococcus immunization recommended, but not administered).	V, A	≥18 yrs.	COPD.	One year?	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group.
IM-005-07 Community- acquired bacterial pneumonia: assessment of influenza immunization status AMA PCPI	Patients who were assessed for influenza immunization status.	All patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of community-acquired bacterial pneumonia <i>AND</i> CPT® E/M Service Code.	Documentation of medical reason(s) for not assessing influenza immunization status (e.g., documentation that immunization was not indicated).	A	≥18 yrs.	Community- acquired bacterial pneumonia.	Flu season?	Medical record, Administra tive claims data, Electronic health record.	Hospital, Individua Group.

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STAI	NDARDS (continued)						
IM-009-07 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) recommendation of influenza immunization AMA PCPI	Patients who were recommended to receive an influenza immunization annually.	All patients aged 18 years and older with the diagnosis of advanced COPD.	Documentation of medical rea- son(s) for not recommending an influenza immunization (e.g., documentation of immunization previously given during the current flu season*); documentation of system reason(s) for not recommend- ing an influenza immunization. *Current flu season is defined	R	≥18 yrs.	Advanced COPD.	Sept-Feb or annual?	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group.
			as September-February.						
IM-012-07 Universal influenza vaccine screening and counseling CMS	Patients screened and counseled about the influenza vaccine.	Patients aged 50 years and older and dates of service in January, February, March, October, November, and December.	Documentation that patient was not appropriate for screening and or counseling about the influenza vaccine (e.g., allergy to eggs).	R, A	≥50 yrs.	All.	(Jan, Feb, Mar, Oct, Nov, Dec) of a calendar year.	Medical record.	All/ Individua clinician.
IM-006-07 Community- acquired bacterial pneumonia: assessment of pneumococcus immunization status AMA PCPI	Patients who were assessed for pneumococcus immunization status.	All patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of community-acquired bacterial pneumonia Denominator (Eligible Population): AND CPT® E/M Service Code.	Documentation of medical reason(s) for not assessing pneumococcus immunization status (e.g., documentation that immunization was not indicated).	A	≥18 yrs.	Community- acquired bacterial pneumonia.	One-year?	Medical record, Admini- strative claims data, Electronic health record.	Physiciar office/ Individua Group.

Annandiy (----Candidate Concensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

Measure Number Measure Title IP Owner*	Numerator Statement	Denominator Statement	Exclusions	Focus	Age	Target Population	Vaccination Time	Data Source	Setting/ Level
PNEUMOCOCCA	L IMMUNIZATION CAN	DIDATE CONSENSUS STA	NDARDS (continued)						
IM-008-07 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) assessment of pneumococcus immunization status AMA PCPI	Patients who were assessed for pneumococcus immunization status.	Patients aged 18 years and older with the diagnosis of COPD.	Documentation of medical reason(s) for not assessing pneumococcus immunization status (e.g., documentation that pneumococcus immunization was not indicated); documentation of patient reason(s) for not assessing pneumococcus immunization status; documentation of system reason(s) for not assessing pneumococcus immunization status.	A	≥18 yrs.	COPD.	One year?	Medical record, Administra tive claims data, Electronic health record.	Physician office/ Individua Group.

Appendix C—Candidate Consensus Standards and Comparison of Key Specifications

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix D Future Review of Previously Endorsed Measures

s noted in the report, the Steering Committee made recommendations on the previously endorsed measures – primarily to create one comprehensive measure for each setting that is aligned with the standard specifications. However, NQF decided that the necessary modifications for measures endorsed prior to the start of this project are not required until the time of maintenance or time-limited endorsement review. Measure maintenance occurs every three years, and measures that are granted time-limited endorsement are reviewed within two years. None of the measure owners for the previously endorsed measures submitted modifications for review during this project. The following table lists the currently endorsed measures, the Steering Committee's recommendations, and the date of last action by the Board of Directors on the measure. When implemented, the Steering Committee recommendations for the previously endorsed measures will result in having one endorsed measure for influenza immunization and one endorsed measure for pneumococcal immunization for each setting (e.g., clinician, hospital, end stage renal disease facility).

Measure Number/Title IP Owner	Measure Description	Committee Recommendation	Endorsement Most Recent NQF Action
INFLUENZA			
0041 Influenza vaccination	Percentage of patients who received an influenza vaccination.	Modifications to continue endorsement.	03/09/2007
AMA PCPI			
0227 Influenza immunization AMA PCPI/RPA	Percentage of patients aged 18 years and older with a diagnosis of ESRD and receiving dialysis who received the influenza immunization during the flu season (September through February).	Modifications to continue endorsement.	11/15/2007 Time-limited endorsement (two years)
0226 Influenza vaccination in the ESRD population—facilities	Percentage of all ESRD patients aged 18 years and older receiving hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis during the flu season (October 1-March 31) who receive an influenza vaccination during the October 1-March 31 reporting period.	Modifications to continue endorsement.	11/15/2007 Time-limited endorsement (two years)
КСQА			
0149 Influenza vaccination The Joint Commission CMS	Pneumonia patients age 50 years and older, hospitalized during October, November, December, January, February, or March who were screened for influenza vaccine status and were vaccinated prior to discharge, if indicated.	Do not recommend. Recommend creating a comprehensive measure consistent with guidelines and standard specifications.	03/09/2007
0039 Flu shots for adults ages 50-64	Percentage of patients age 50-64 who report having received an influenza vaccination during the past influenza vaccination season.	Do not recommend.	03/09/2007
NCQA			
0040 Flu shots for older adults	Percentage of patients age 65 and over who received an influenza vaccination from September through December of the year.	Do not recommend.	03/09/2007
NCQA			

more

Measure Number/Title IP Owner	Measure Description	Committee Recommendation	Endorsement Most Recent NQF Action
PNEUMOCOCCAL			
0044 Pneumonia vaccination	Percentage of patients who ever received a pneumococcal vaccination.	Modifications to continue endorsement.	03/09/2007
NCQA/CMS 0150 Pneumococcal vaccination The Joint Commission CMS	Pneumonia patients, age 65 and older, who were screened for pneumococcal vaccine status and were administered the vaccine prior to discharge, if indicated.	Do not recommend. Recommend creating a comprehensive measure consistent with guidelines and standard specifications.	03/09/2007
0042 Pneumococcal vaccine needed for all adults aged 65 years or older Resolution Health, Inc.	Percentage of adults aged 65 to 67 years who have received an pneumococcal vaccine.	Do not recommend.	03/09/2007
0043 Pneumonia vaccination status for older adults NCQA	The percentage of Medicare patients 65 years of age and older who ever received a pneumococcal vaccination.	Do not recommend.	03/09/2007

Appendix D—Future Review of Previously Endorsed Measures

THE NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM (NQF) is a private, nonprofit, open membership, public benefit corporation whose mission is to improve the American healthcare system so that it can be counted on to provide safe, timely, compassionate, and accountable care using the best current knowledge. Established in 1999, NQF is a unique public-private partnership having broad participation from all parts of the healthcare industry. As a voluntary consensus standard-setting organization, NQF seeks to develop a common vision for healthcare quality improvement, create a foundation for standardized healthcare performance data collection and reporting, and identify a national strategy for healthcare quality improvement. NQF provides an equitable mechanism for addressing the disparate priorities of healthcare's many stakeholders.

National Quality Forum 601 13th Street NW Suite 500 North Washington, DC 20005

